Structural engineering: the forgotten child of inverse problems?

A. Gallet¹, S. Rigby¹, T. N. Tallman², X. Kong³,
I. Hajirasouliha¹, A. Liew¹, D. Liu⁴, L. Chen¹,
A. Hauptmann^{5,6}, and D. Smyl¹

¹Department of Civil and Structural Engineering, University of Sheffield

²School of Aeronautics and Astronautics, Purdue University

³Department of Physics and Engineering Science, Coastal Carolina University

⁴School of Physical Sciences, University of Science and Technology of China

 $^5\mathrm{Research}$ Unit of Mathematical Sciences, University of Oulu

⁶Department of Computer Science, University College London

June 30, 2021

Abstract

The field of structural engineering is vast, spanning areas from the design of new infrastructure to the assessment of existing infrastructure. From the onset, traditional entry-level university courses teach students to analyse structural response given data including external forces, geometry, member sizes, restraint, etc. – characterising a *forward* problem (structural causalities \rightarrow structural response). Shortly thereafter, junior engineers are introduced to structural design where they aim to, for example, select an appropriate structural form for members based on design criteria, which is the *inverse* of what they previously learned. Similar inverse realisations also hold true in structural health monitoring and a number of structural engineering sub-fields (response \rightarrow structural causalities). In this light, we aim to demonstrate that many structural engineering sub-fields may be fundamentally or partially viewed as *inverse problems* and thus benefit via the rich and established methodologies from the inverse problems community. To this end, we conclude that the future of inverse problems in structural engineering is inexorably linked to engineering education and machine learning developments.

Contents

1	Inti	roduction	3	
2 Inverse problems, methods, and contemporary use			4	
3	Structural design as an inverse problem			
	3.1	Demarcating structural analysis and design	6	
	3.2	Introducing the inverse problem perspective for design	6	
	3.3	The link to structural optimisation	8	
	3.4	Implications of treating structural designs as inverse problems	8	
4	Extreme loads on structures			
	4.1	Blast loading and inverse analysis	9	
	4.2	Proof-of-concept experimental studies	10	
	4.3	Outlook	12	
5	Structural health monitoring			
	5.1	Background on inverse methods in SHM	12	
	5.2	Static inverse problems in SHM	13	
	5.3	Dynamical inverse problems in SHM	15	
	5.0	Computer vision inverse problems in SHM	16	
	5.5	Digital twins and outlook	18	
6	Smart materials and structures			
	6.1	Piezoresistive nanocomposites	20	
	6.2	Conductivity imaging via EIT/EBT	21	
	6.3	Piezoresistive inversion	22	
7	A look forward: machine learning and education 2			
	7.1	Machine learned inversion	25	
	7.2	Inverse methodology in structural engineering education	26	
8	Cor	nclusion	27	

1 Introduction

The estimation of structural response from loading and boundary conditions is a fundamental concept in structural analysis, from elementary Euler-Bernoulli beam theory to non-linear simulations involving complex structures subjected to extreme earthquake excitation. In fact, numerical computation of structural response from known causalities characterises a *forward* problem (cause \rightarrow effect) and has rightly been the source of significant research since the advent of modern computing. Amongst the myriad of computational frameworks, the finite element method (FEM) [1, 2, 3, 4], finite difference [5, 6], spectral element [7, 8], and hybridisations [9] have proven both widely applicable and successful over the years. The implementation of such forward models have aided engineers in their ability to model, analyse, and design structures with arbitrary geometry and precision, contributing greatly to the presence of skyscrapers, supersonic aircraft, large cruise ships, and many more engineering examples. In the near future, the pervasiveness of, for example, the FEM appears inevitable while its usefulness is unquestionable in structural engineering applications.

Pragmatically however, the final configuration of structural members is not known at the beginning of the design process; i.e. one iteration of a structural simulation is not generally sufficient in a real project. This reality implies that the design of structures is an iterative process – for example the identification of appropriately sized structural members, connections, and restraints (causalities) from design constraints, building codes, and environmental considerations (data). As is often the case, the iterative design process is carried out initially using design tables, rules of thumb, handcrafted protocols, optimisation regimes, etc. Nonetheless, this process is emphatically an *inverse problem*, where an engineer is given data alongside design objectives and challenged to determine the appropriate structural configuration (causalities).

Of course, the field of structural engineering is diverse, in which structural design is one of many sub-fields where inverse problems are applicable. Perhaps a more straightforward implementation of inverse problems is structural health monitoring (SHM), where realtime (or near real-time) data is used in the prognosis of structural condition. Indeed, the detection, localisation, prediction, and prognosis of potential damage processes is enabled in one of two ways, (a) via pattern recognition or (b) solving an inverse problem (or series of inverse problems) [10]. Moreover, certain non-destructive evaluation (NDE) are also known to employ inverse problems (e.g. X-ray CT and emerging NDE approaches in academia) to asses the damage state of structural elements measured offline [11]. For contextualisation, a schematic example contrasting the differences between forward and inverse models is provided in Fig. 1; this well known problem is referred to as an *inverse elasticity problem*, falling within the realm of NDE inverse problems.

These, and many more sub-fields of structural engineering, can not only be (fundamentally or partially) viewed as inverse problems, but, as we aim to illustrate herein, are benefited by the systematic approaches comprising the rich area of inverse problems. Too often overlooked by structural engineers and structural researchers, the mathematics of inverse problems is an established field, ranging from classical statistical/Bayesian methodology [12] to cutting-edge implementation of deep neural networks [13]. Moreover, while the present use of inverse problem methodologies in structural engineering is limited, its potential is immense across the expanse of the structural engineering sub-fields.

In this paper, this potential will be discussed in detail and contextualised among a broad suite of existing inversion-based applications. To begin, a clear description of inverse problems and methods will be detailed. Following this, a review and discussion



Figure 1: Schematic illustration depicting the forward and inverse problem relationship for a stretched elastic plate with randomised stiffness properties. The forward finite element model inputs (causalities) are shown as the non-homogeneous stiffness properties while the model output is the displacement field. In contrast, the inverse model aims to estimate the stiffness properties *given* the displacement field.

of inverse methodologies in modern structural engineering applications will be provided. Inasmuch, the intent of this manuscript is to examine the following topics in structural engineering through the lens of inverse problems. We remark, however, that the forthcoming topical sections are *not* intended to be exhaustive reviews, but rather, to provide substantiating evidence for the pervasiveness of inverse problems in structural engineering. Lastly, realisations, overview, paths forward, and conclusions will be presented.

2 Inverse problems, methods, and contemporary use

Traditionally, the field of inverse problems is concerned with the mathematical question of if and how one can determine the cause for certain measurements. Despite being primarily mathematically oriented, the underlying questions always stem from relevant physics and engineering applications. This is especially true for one of the most prototypical inverse problems, the so-called Calderón problem [14] that asks: can one determine the conductivity of a body from electrical measurements at the boundary. In fact, this question arose during Calderón's time as a civil engineer, before he pursued an academic career in mathematics. In the following, we want to close the loop back to civil and structural engineering application that once motivated an entire field of mathematical studies, by utilising the insights gained in the last decades.

More generally speaking, inverse problems consist of finding the unknown characteristics of a structural system from some of the outputs, or measurements of that system. Most notably, this includes the above mentioned inverse conductivity problem in geophysics [15] and engineering, but also includes a large field with applications in medical image reconstruction [16, 17]. Mathematically, such problems are ill-posed, broadly meaning that the parameters to be estimated θ are highly sensitive to changes in the measurement data d. The solution to the inverse problem involves estimating the parameter θ from a fixed set of measured data d, in contrast to the forward problem of computing d from knowledge of the system parameter θ . Specifically, this means given the forward model U, that models the system equations, we first formulate the underlying observation model

$$d = U(\theta) + \delta d. \tag{1}$$

Here, δd denotes an error term, modelling several sources of possible errors, such as inaccurate measurements or even inaccuracies in the model simulation. The question that remains is: "how can we obtain θ from d given the above relationship?" Which we will call the reconstruction problem in the following. It is important to note that we can not simply invert the forward problem (1), as the ill-posed nature implies that there can be either no or multiple solutions and additionally under inevitable measurement noise these solutions are not stable to compute by direct inversion. This ill-posedness of the inversion procedure constitutes the underlying paradigm of an *inverse problem*.

In order to obtain stable reconstructions, we make use of a concept known as regularisation [18], which aims to assign a unique solution to each set of measurements in a stable manner, that means if the noise in the measurement vanishes, we would obtain the original system parameter. We can separate such stable reconstruction procedures into two primary classes: ones that compute a solution θ^* directly from measured data and those that iteratively aim to fit a solution by minimising a suitable cost functional. In the first case we aim to formulate an inverse mapping U^{\dagger} , such that

$$U^{\dagger}(d) \approx \theta. \tag{2}$$

The primary problem in obtaining such direct inversion algorithms is that they can be highly dependent on the problem under consideration. Especially so, when the relationship between d and θ is non-linear. Thus, obtaining such a mapping is a highly non-trivial task, but reveals much about the underlying problem characteristics and hence is a primary interest of mathematical research [16, 19, 20].

The second case, is a more principled approach that can be formulated for a large class of problems. The underlying premise is to reformulate the reconstruction problem as an optimisation problem. That is, we formulate a cost functional that measures how good our reconstruction fits the data while simultaneously enforcing some additional characteristics and acting as regularisation for the reconstruction process. Specifically, the reconstruction problem then writes as finding a minimiser of

$$\theta^* = \arg\min_{\theta} \frac{1}{2} \|U(\theta) - d\|_2^2 + \alpha R(\theta).$$
(3)

Here, the first term enforces that reconstructions fit the data, whereas the second term is the so-called regularisation term. As discussed previously, this regularisation term is necessary when dealing with inverse problems, as it prevents a solution from overfitting the measurement noise. Importantly, by incorporating prior knowledge in the design of R [21, 22], we effectively choose preferred solutions and overcome the problem of non-uniqueness. Finally, the parameter $\alpha > 0$ balances both terms and depends on the noise amplitude. Solutions to (3) are computed by suitable optimisation schemes, for which repeated evaluation of the forward model U will be necessary. Consequently, computing solutions to (3) can be computationally highly expensive, if the evaluation of U is expensive. Thus, for nonlinear problems fast converging algorithms, such as Gauss-Newton or related methods [23], are preferred.

Lastly, with the recent rising popularity of data-driven methods, researchers have designed computationally more efficient ways to address the reconstruction problem [24]. Such data-driven approaches are often inspired by classical reconstruction algorithms discussed above. For instance, one can replace the direct reconstruction operator or parts of it, with a data-driven component, typically consisting of a neural network [25, 26, 27]. Given a set of informative reference data, one can then learn a suitable mapping mimicking (2). Alternatively, researchers have investigated the possibility to improve the iterative process to compute solutions to (3), by replacing parts in the optimisation algorithm with learned components [13, 28, 29, 30, 31], or entirely building network architectures motivated by the iterative solution process [32, 33].

3 Structural design as an inverse problem

3.1 Demarcating structural analysis and design

The motivation for investigating structural design as an inverse problem arises due to the failures of the current engineering science paradigm in adequately addressing the true nature of design. Prior to World War II, engineering higher education was originally focused on the art and practice of engineering [34], yet by the 1960s, due to the success of science-based ventures such as the Manhattan Project and the rise of government-sponsored research grants that severed the link between academia and industry, engineering science became the main field of research and teaching at universities [35]. Whilst this research resulted in powerful structural analysis techniques, it also left engineering graduates with a noticeable loss of practical engineering skills [36]. In the 1990s and early 2000s, there was a push to introduce capstone design projects in university engineering degrees in the hope that this would help students develop such design skills, the success of which is disputed [37].

There is a broad agreement within the literature that analysis and design are two distinctively different activities. Structural analysis, which falls into the field of engineering science, is primarily concerned with establishing *knowledge-that* explains the world, and characterised by necessity, certainty and universality; design on the other hand is concerned with *knowledge-how* something works, based on qualities of contingency, probability and particularity [38]. These qualities underline the ill-structured [39], open-ended [40] or even "wicked" [41] nature of design. These qualities do not lend design easily to sciencebased research and might explain why graduating engineering students, who are primarily taught in engineering science concepts, struggle to understand the true nature of design in industry.

3.2 Introducing the inverse problem perspective for design

As alluded to in the introduction, these qualitative differences might be accounted for by recognising that structural analysis and structural design are two fundamentally different types of problems. Structural analysis is typically seen as a tool within the larger design process to validate the adequacy of structural elements and justify a particular design for building approval [42]. However, another perspective is that structural design is in fact an *inverse-problem*, with structural analysis forming the related *forward-problem*.

This perspective is not necessarily completely intuitive, since unlike typical inverse problems such as the one shown in Fig. 1, where physically measured data (the displacement field) is used to identify the causalities (stiffness properties), in structural design we are dealing with a mere theoretical construct, or "theoretically" measured data. More rigorously, this data entails the set of complex design constraints which need to be adhered to, such as ultimate (ULS), serviceability limit states (SLS), sustainability and constructability, as well as more subjective drivers like aesthetics. From this perspective, structural design can be seen as the process of arriving from a specific set of constraints to a viable structural solution, with analysis being the process of checking if the proposed structural solution adheres to those constraints as shown in Fig. 2.



Figure 2: Relationship between structural analysis and design, in which design is the inverse problem of evaluating a suitable structural solution *given* a set of constraints. Some constraints (such as stability constraints) render themselves more easily to quantitative treatments.

To further highlight the link between structural design and inverse problems, it is worth emphasising that the key feature of inverse problems is their ill-posed nature, which was briefly explained in §2. Their characteristics include being unstable, non-unique and at times un-solvable [43]. Notice how these qualities were already alluded to before as being "ill-structured", "open-ended" and "wicked" by previous researchers, yet to the best of our knowledge, this is the first time that literature has attempted to link structural design with inverse problems. Table 1 shows how the typical qualities of inverse problems manifest themselves in structural design.

Ill-posed inverse problem characteristics	General description	Examples in structural design
	Small changes in constraints	Change in maximum of
Unstable	can lead to large changes	structural floor depth on
	of appropriate solutions	suitable grid-spacing of columns
	For a given set of	Various archtypes of truss designs
Non-unique	constraints, there are multiple	
	adequate solutions that exist	
	There may be insufficient	Lacking knowledge of geotechnical site conditions
Un-solvable	constraining data available in order	
	to evaluate adequate solutions	

Table 1: Overview of ill-posed inverse problem features in the context of structural design.

We note, that the design problem can be also formulated as an optimal control problem [44], where the optimal design parameters are thought to be found as minimiser of a penalty function while satisfying the system equations. Whereas, the optimal control approach can provide an effective way to solve complicated design problems, it falls short in accounting for uncertainties or inaccuracies in the forward model, and especially the link between

measurement and system parameters. We believe that the here lies the strength of the inverse problems viewpoint, that offers a rich interpretation and link between system parameters and measurements given as the forward model. This is not only promising for the optimisation task in the design process, but also for new ways to approach the modelling of the forward problem.

3.3 The link to structural optimisation

As briefly explained in §2, inverse problems can effectively be solved iteratively, and this is acknowledged by the iterative nature of the design process [45]. Effectively, this process involves making an estimate of the structural solution based on experience and design methods (such as simple rules of thumbs), checking those estimates through an analysis (forward) model and updating the model if necessary; in other words, this approach is characterised by creating an optimisation problem. Some examples of forward-driven optimisation models used in structural design include: optimising the deformed shape of flexible formwork structures to predefined target geometries [46, 47], best-fit geometry optimisation of thrust networks in the design of shell structures [48], and finding the optimal structural forms for long-span bridges [49], gridshells [50], trusses [51], portal frames [52] and structural sections [53].

Note a key theme in these research works, is that the structural geometry or member proportions are not initially defined, but rather are form-found or discovered in the process, based on the defined loading, boundary conditions and objectives. Often these discovered structural forms may lead to step change benefits in terms of performance or reduced material usage, as they are unbiased by our preconceived perception of what a "good" structure is, or by what we currently design and build in the construction industry with standard template solutions. It is also true for many cases, that a solution may not even exist, forcing us to accept a closest best fit solution, or it can be that an optimal solution may have multiple candidates by virtue of the structure's static indeterminacy. A common problem with a forward (sometimes brute-force) optimisation approach, can be lengthy computational times for structural analyses in the objective functions, and the sheer size of the design (and hence optimisation) search space, stemming from many wide ranging input design variables. While fast and globally convergent convex optimisation programs can be set-up, many practical structural engineering design problems are inherently nonlinear in nature, forcing a slower approach that uses local searches or heuristic methods with no guarantee of a global optimum. This is a current challenge faced in solving inverse problem iteratively with forward models.

3.4 Implications of treating structural designs as inverse problems

The following remains to question: "what are the implications of an inverse problems perspective in design?" First, as shown in Fig. 2, an inverse problem perspective should emphasise that design fundamentally asks a different question than analysis, and hence also requires a completely different type of model. An analysis model solves the forward-problem, and answers questions such as "what is the ULS utilisation ratio of this particular beam system for a particular load, with this specific cross-section and support conditions?". An appropriate design model would essentially ask the reverse: "what is the group of cross-sections and support-conditions which ensures a utilisation ratio of less than 1.0 for this particular beam system to carry this particular load?". Notice that the magnitude of loading and the ULS checks serve as the design constraints; both are known "data" and normally set by the client brief. It is also worth highlighting that the question acknowledges

the non-uniqueness of the solution space. Whilst engineering science has produced highly sophisticated analysis models, the research of such "design models" is lacking in academia.

Secondly, the inverse problem perspective also sheds insight on the possibility of using data-driven approaches as opposed to more typical optimisation based techniques. The rise of machine learning and deep neural networks could provide an alternative approach for the development of such "design models", which focus on directly identifying a set of structural solutions from a given set of constraints using learned data. These could help address some of the challenges faced during design due to tight deadlines and the vast design space which can be explored. On typical design projects, the full implication of early design decisions are typically only realised once a project progresses to the detailed design stage, at which point it becomes cost and time prohibitive to effectuate changes. This can lead to structural solutions that are difficult to build, have poor sustainability metrics, and be costly to engineer and fabricate, leading to spiralling project delays. If one instead considers the design solutions either rapidly or in parallel, it could be possible to reduce project risk and pick more effective structures by appreciating many solutions to the brief from the onset.

Lastly, the ultimate benefit of an inverse problem perspective is that it helps to clearly distinguish between analysis and design procedures and provides academia with an adequate framework to contextualise *design model* research. Engineering academia has in many ways become a prisoner to the engineering science perspective, with the misleading belief that scientific methods are applicable for engineering design [54]. One of the uncomfortable implications of this view is that engineers from over 150 years ago, which trained primarily in the art and practice of engineering design, may in fact have been better "inverse-problem solvers" than academics and graduating engineers of today (who are stronger in solving the well-structured forward problems) [55]. The inverse problem perspective for structural design might help swing the pendulum away from focusing exclusively on forward models (analysis) towards a more stable equilibrium with inverse models (design) by acknowledging that engineering research should focus on developing techniques for these two related, albeit distinctively different types of problems.

4 Extreme loads on structures

4.1 Blast loading and inverse analysis

High-rate dynamic loads can arise from events such as earthquakes, wind, tidal waves, impacts, and accidental or malicious explosions. Here, the imparted load may be comparable or several times larger than the strength of the material it is acting on, it can be applied and removed in sub-second durations, and is often highly localised. Accordingly, the notion of static structural design according to a pre-determined distribution of stresses and strains may not be appropriate, and instead the designer must consider energy balance, non-linear analyses, and deformation modes for which there is no equivalent static counterpart.

Blast loading is undoubtedly one of the most aggressive forms of dynamic loading. When an explosive detonates it undergoes a violent and self-perpetuating exothermic chemical reaction, releasing energy through the breaking of inter-molecular bonds during oxidation [56]. The explosive material is converted into a high pressure (10–30 GPa), high temperature (3000–4000°C) gas which violently expands, displacing the surrounding air at supersonic velocities (6–8 km/s). This displacement causes a shock wave to form in the air,

termed a blast wave, which eventually detaches from the expanding detonation product 'fireball' and continues to propagate into the surrounding air, decreasing in pressure and density as it expands.

When a blast wave encounters an obstacle some distance from the source it will impart momentum as the air is momentarily (either fully or partially, depending on the compliance of the obstacle) brought to rest at the air/obstacle interface. Prediction of blast even in the most simple settings is a considerable challenge to the scientific community. This becomes an increasingly complex and multi-faceted problem when considering issues such as: obstacle orientation; proximity of the obstacle to the source and additional momentum transfer from fireball impingement; secondary combustion effects either at the air/obstacle interface or in late-time due to partial or full confinement of the explosive products; the presence of mitigating or blast-enhancing materials (soil, reactive munitions, etc.).

Real-world blast events are highly uncertain, and the need for inverse analysis is clear: it is very rare that the exact size, shape, composition, and location of an explosive device is known *a priori*. Instead, information relating to the *cause* of an explosion should be estimated, within reason, from the more readily observed *effects*, i.e. the magnitude and severity of structural damage to surrounding buildings, and cratering of the ground surface. Whilst inverse analysis is well-established for practical post-event assessment of explosions—and has been used to determine the size/location of blast events through forensic investigation of social media videos [57] or numerical modelling correlating structural damage [58, 59]—the use of inverse modelling in an academic context is still to be exploited fully. In the former, order-of-magnitude estimates are typically deemed sufficient, whereas the latter requires repeatable, precise measurements and high levels of experimental control.

The lack of robust yet high-fidelity experimental techniques has stifled academic research into close-in blast for some time. Close-in blast is typically defined as the region within approximately 20 radii from the charge centre, where the blast load in this region is characterised by a near-instantaneous rise to peak pressures in the order of 100–1000 MPa, followed by a rapid decay to ambient conditions typically occurring within sub-ms of arrival of the blast wave. Subsequent structural response may reach a peak value in the order of 10-100 mm and, whilst this may occur orders of magnitude slower than load application, deformation cycles are still typically within ms durations.

Recently, two notable advancements have been made in experimental characterisation of close-in blast and structural response. In the first of these, researchers at the University of Sheffield (UoS), UK, developed a large scale apparatus for the spatial and temporal measurement of blast pressures from close-in explosions [60, 61]. In the second, researchers at the University of Cape Town (UCT), South Africa, adapted the well-known digital image correlation (DIC) technique to measure the transient response of the rear-face of blast loaded plates [62]. These two techniques were combined in a recent study [63, 64] where, for the first time, detailed loading maps *and* temporal structural response profiles were developed independently, in a single-blind study, for identical (scaled) experimental set ups.

4.2 **Proof-of-concept** experimental studies

Of the experiments performed in [63], 12 are relevant to the notion of inverse analysis of blast loading and structural response, and will be discussed here. Six tests were performed with spherical explosive charges; three at UoS measuring blast loading and three at UCT measuring structural response. In the UoS spherical tests, 100 g PE4 charges were located at 55.4 mm clear distance from the centre of a nominally rigid target, on which the reflected

blast pressures were measured. In the UCT spherical charge tests, 50 g PE4 charges were located at 44.0 mm clear stand-off distance from the centre of the flexible target plates: 300 mm diameter, 3 mm thick, Domex 355MC steel plates, fully clamped around the periphery. The plate response was filmed using a pair of stereo high speed video cameras and DIC was used to determine transient plate response. The two test series can be expressed at the same scale using well-known geometric/cube-root scaling laws. Here, it is assumed that the flexible targets deform on timescales orders of magnitude longer than loading application, and therefore differences between the loaded imparted to the rigid and flexible plates are negligible.

Specific impulse is given as the integral of pressure with respect to time. Numerical integration of the UoS pressure histories (at various distances from the centre of the plate) yields *directly-measured* specific impulse distributions. The first few frames of the UCT tests were used to determine initial velocity distributions of the plate, from which imparted specific impulse could be *inferred* through localised conservation of momentum: $i(x) = v(x)\rho t$, where *i* is specific impulse, *x* is distance from the plate centre, *v* is out-of-plane velocity of the plate, ρ is density (7830 kg/m³ for Domex 355MC), and *t* is plate thickness.

The results for the spherical tests are shown in Fig. 3. The full-field inferred specific impulse distributions are in close agreement with the discreet, directly measured values, and both measurements form a tight banding in an approximate Gaussian distribution [65]. Not only does this indicate a high level of test-to-test repeatability for each method, but demonstrates that the two methods are measuring the same underlying phenomena, albeit in entirely different ways. Thus, it can be said that an imparted impulse will result in an initial velocity uptake which is directly proportional, and therefore measurement of one allows for the other to be determined. This proves the concept of using plate deformation under blast loads in an inverse approach—namely that from knowledge of plate deformation one may be able to determine the imparted load—and provides physical verification of the inverse approach developed by [66, 67].

In addition to the spherical charge tests, six tests were performed in [63] using squat cylinders (height:diameter of 1:3). Such charges are known to produce a more concentrated load, with the fireball propagating at higher velocities along the axis of the charge [68]. This accelerates the growth and emergence of fireball surface instabilities [69], which has been observed to give rise to a more variable loading distribution [70]. A key research question in this study was: "will a more variable loading result in more variable structural response?" In the UoS cylindrical tests, 78 g PE4 charges were located at 168.0 mm clear distance from the centre of the target, and in the UCT cylindrical tests, 50 g PE4 charges were located at 145.0 mm clear distance from the centre of the target. Again, specific impulse distributions were both directly-measured and inferred from plate response respectively, and the experiments were expressed at the same scale using common scaling laws.

The results for the cylindrical tests are shown in Fig. 4. Whilst the two methods again show good agreement, the results can be seen to form a much wider spread. In contrast to the spherical tests, where peak specific impulse was seen to consistently act in the plate centre for all tests, here the peak value is often up to 25 mm from the plate centre (approximately equal to the charge radius), in both the directly-measured and inferred values. The inferred values are generally bounded by the directly-measured values, which suggests that this spread is indeed a genuine feature caused by application of more variable load.



Figure 3: Directly-measured (UoS) and inferred (UCT) specific impulse distributions from studies of blast loading and plate deformation following detonation of spherical explosives, expressed at 100 g (UoS) scale, after [63]



Figure 4: Directly-measured (UoS) and inferred (UCT) specific impulse distributions from studies of blast loading and plate deformation following detonation of cylindrical explosives, expressed at 78 g (UoS) scale, after [63]

4.3 Outlook

The aforementioned studies [63, 64] have provided a firm physical basis for inverse analysis in the context of extreme loading and structural response. The results have clear implications for the future of research in this area. Namely, it has been demonstrated that not only can inverse analysis provide excellent predictions of blast loading in repeatable, well-controlled situations (as with the spherical tests in [63]), but structural response measurements are potentially sensitive enough to detect localised variations in loading (as with the cylindrical tests in [63]). This is particular important in situations where a highly variable loading might be expected (e.g. from explosives buried in well-graded soils [71]), but statistical variations cannot be determined in a robust sense when using direct measurements (note the discrete nature of the direct measurements in this study, compared to the effectively continuous nature of the inferred measurements).

This technique may permit, through inverse methods, fundamental scientific studies of complex mechanisms governing blast loading following close-in detonation of explosive charges in situations where previous research has not yet been possible.

5 Structural health monitoring

5.1 Background on inverse methods in SHM

Inverse problems are deeply connected to SHM. In fact, computerised damage detection can generally be recognised as either a pattern recognition or inverse problem [10, 72, 73] where unknown or uncertain parameters (causalities) are estimated via quasi-static or dynamic structural response data. Among the numerous inversion-based approaches, FEM updating methodologies are among the most pervasive [74, 75, 76, 77]. Much of the noted popularity is owed to the flexibility of the FEM for comparing modal parameters to an undamaged state and in compensating model errors.

Meanwhile, analytical [78], wavelet [79], fractal [80], fuzzy system [81], Kalman filter [82], chaotic interrogation [83], shape function [84], and particle filtering [85] approaches, among many others, have proven successful in uncertain inverse parameter identification applications within SHM. Broadly speaking, inverse SHM approaches can be grouped as either deterministic or probabilistic [86] – which is also generally the case in classical inverse problems [12]. In the latter case, estimation of uncertain SHM parameters takes the form of a probabilistic term, for example a value with an associated certainty, a probability itself, etc.

Irrespective of the computational approach used in damage detection, two key realisations affect the efficacy of inversion methodologies: (a) a baseline is generally needed to detect/quantify damage [87] and (b) the presence of damage inherently influences the linearity of structural behaviour [88]. In addressing (a), reference-free or baseline-free frameworks have been introduced [89, 90, 91, 92] via the introduction of either assumptions on the reference state, implementation of prior physics knowledge, or probabilistic regimes. On the other hand, non-linearity in the structural response can either act as a corrupting entity when linear forward models are used (e.g. unacceptable forward model error) or used as an advantage when properly leveraged. Regarding the latter, as noted in [88], methods based on non-linear indicators, dynamical systems theories, and non-linear systems identification approaches can be used to aid or enrich the damage identification process; such a conclusion can also be extended to the pure usage of inverse approaches in damage detection.

In the past thirty years, implementation of inversion-based damage detection methods in SHM has steadily increased. This is due to both the increase in inverse problems knowhow and computational resources. Yet, since the emergence of contemporary machine learning, the ability to solve problems deemed previously intractable has exponentially increased opportunities in this area. For example, in many cases, forward models may not be available or are too computationally expensive, sufficient non-linearity may exist to effectively model the desired physics, errors in highly reduced models may be excessive, the ability to compute model gradients may be overly expensive, etc. Moreover, the ability of classification networks to readily classify important variables such as the probability and/or severity of damage from structural data is intuitively appealing and pragmatically useful. In the following, we will provide contemporary examples highlighting the use of both classical and machine learning based SHM inverse approaches.

5.2 Static inverse problems in SHM

Incorporation of discrete static (or quasi-static) data measured from structures into SHM frameworks is well established. For example, a number of sources, including corrosion, relative humidity, fibre-optic, topography, laser, potentiometer, strain gauge, electrical, and thermal sources, have been successfully integrated into long-term condition monitoring protocols [93]. The richness of spatial-temporal data obtained from these sources lends itself well for use in inversion-based SHM, i.e. given a set or sets of static SHM data, use an inverse methodology in capturing (potential) damage. This is true in cases where numerical models are available for the problem physics and when they are not (e.g. learned models can act as surrogates when physics-based models are unavailable).

The sheer volume of literature available reporting the successful use of static inversion

methods in SHM is formidable. However, roughly speaking, static inverse methodologies have been implemented within three areas, (a) point sensing, (b) area sensing, and (c) volumetric sensing. Holistically, it can be difficult to distinguish between each of these areas; for example, when lower dimensional measurements are extrapolated to characterise damage in area or volume targets [94, 95]. One such example is Digital Image Correlation (DIC), where the displacement field at discrete points on a structure is inversely computed via pixel movement and then extrapolated (interpolated) to a full-field, whereby the quality of the computed field is highly dependent on the quality of the contrasting area speckle pattern [96]. Similarly, one may consider the distinguishing of static measurement dimensionality as a local-global phenomenon where discrete local changes contribute to the analysis of the global structural system [94]. Lastly, to complicate matters even more, the use of discrete measurements can yield 2- or 3D information – as in the case of penetrative electrical measurements, where currents diffuse through the entirety of a body [97].

Fortunately these, perhaps philosophical realisations, are often washed out via the nature of inversion methodologies themselves. Pragmatically, at least in the context of SHM, the solution to static inverse problems generally requires a model, either physics based or learned. As such, the amalgamation or assimilation of data and solution dimensionality is often simply a matter of discretisation or model generation. In a similar vane, when static inverse problems are ill-posed, solutions generated using lower dimensional data are regularised/biased using prior models consistent with the solution dimension.

Many examples are available in the literature illustrating the efficacy of static inversion methodologies for applications in a suite of SHM implementations. For example, the use of displacement measurements for capturing SHM causalities in various structural geometries was reported in [98, 99, 100]. Of note, the specific applications using displacement fields to reconstruction elastic ans elasto-plastic properties (and corresponding damage characteristics) has been the source of significant research [101, 102, 103, 104, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109, 110, 111, 112, 113, 114, 115]. One such example using full field displacements to infer damage via elastic property reconstructions is provided in Fig. 5. In the pervasive case where displacement/strain measurements are discretely measured from strain gauges/fibre optics, inverse methodologies have also been fruitfully employed for damage characterisation, pressure and strain mapping, and shape sensing [116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 122, 123, 124, 125, 126, 127]. Perhaps one measure illustrating the success of such inverse approaches is highlighted by the recent interest in optimising the related sensing schemes [128, 129, 116, 130].

Figure 5: Reconstructions of orthotropic elastic properties using DIC measurements from a locally-damaged unidirectional composite beam from [107].

In the past decade, the emergence of electrical inverse methods has also proven a viable approach to static condition monitoring. This family of inversion-based modalities generally utilises three different data sources including capacitative, direct current, and alternating current based measurements. Capacitative sensing is perhaps the newest of these approaches to sensing, where SHM causalities can be inversely computed using smart bricks [131], area sensors [132, 133, 134, 135], and electrical capacitance tomography [136, 137]. On the other hand, owing to its established history in medical and geophysical applications, electrical impedance tomography (EIT, or electrical resistance tomography,

ERT) is becoming a well established approach to damage detection, reconstruction, and localisation especially in concrete applications. For these, EIT presently manifests via two approaches, reconstructing conductivity maps using boundary voltages measured from area sensing skins [138, 139] or directly imaging a 3D cementitous body [140]. Representative 2D EIT reconstructions are provided in Fig. 6 using a machine learned approach (direct reconstruction) for imaging flexural and shear cracks in concrete elements. To this end, EIT has also been used for characterising area corrosion [139] and localising area temperature variations [141].



c) Experimental image of a flexural crack



Figure 6: Reconstructions (right column) report probabilistic predictions of local flexural and shear cracking in a concrete elements. The colour bars represent the probability of potential cracks at nodal locations: (a) simulated shear cracking pattern, (b) probabilistic prediction of the corresponding shear crack pattern using a convolutional Neural Network, (c) experimental photo of a flexural crack in an area sensing skin, and (d) probabilistic prediction of the corresponding flexural crack using a feedforward neural network.

In summary of this subsection, it is clear that the use of inverse methodologies in static SHM applications is pervasive. Meanwhile, a number of inversion-based modalities are still emerging – or are yet to emerge. Indeed, given the number of potential static data sources available at present, there exist substantial opportunities to investigate or formulate new inversion based modalities. In the light that some physical models for various underlying physics remain unavailable (either in open source or in general), the use of learned models may bridge this gap. Lastly, there currently exists tremendous opportunities in the areas of data fusion and joint imaging, which remain predominately unexplored in the area of static inversion based SHM [142].

5.3 Dynamical inverse problems in SHM

The use of dynamical data for monitoring the health and condition of structures is well established [143]. For this, a number of data sources are available, for example discrete acceleration, strain, displacement measurements, and recently, coupled electromechanical impedance via piezoelectric transducers [144, 145]. In the case of typical civil infrastructure [146], the ability to actively excite monitored structures is pragmatically challenging due to the extreme magnitude of the excitation required to attain a distinguishable response. For this reason, ambient monitoring methodologies have gained significant popularity in

recent years [147, 148, 149]. Irrespective of the dynamical monitoring approach used, extracting dynamical structural properties of interest can be viewed as an ill-posed inverse problem [150]. The ill-posedness of such problems results from a number of actualities, not limited to uncertainties in environmental conditions (wind, temperature, ground conditions, humidity, etc.), traffic, measurement noise, the discrete nature of measurements, material characteristics and numerical modelling error.

Frameworks used in solving dynamical inverse problems in SHM are widely reported in the literature. One of the most pervasive approaches is model updating, which generally aims to match a physics-based model (such as a representative finite element model) to measured dynamical data [88, 72], commonly using a form of modal analysis [151, 152]. The physics-based techniques are particularly efficient in providing higher accuracy when testing is restricted. It is often the case that reconstructing the dynamical SHM properties of interest proves difficult, requiring an innovative approach; some proposed frameworks have included advanced optimisation protocols [153] and mode decomposition/superposition [154, 154]. Alternatively, the use of phase space [155], state space [156], singular value decomposition [157], auto-regressive [158, 159], Gaussian process [160], and Bayesian/stochastic approaches [161, 162, 163, 164] have proven successful. As noted in the previous subsection, one metric for assessing the progress in this field is the number of works aiming to optimise sensing information, for example in [165, 166, 130, 167, 168, 169, 170, 171, 172].

To this point, the use of distributed dynamical data for monitoring primarily large structures and structural elements has been discussed. However, in approximately the past twenty years, guided wave based modalities have emerged as a viable approach to dynamical inversion based SHM [173, 174, 175, 176, 177, 178, 179, 180]. Common physical manifestations of guided waves include Lamb waves (propagating through thin shell and plate structures) [181], Rayleigh waves (surface waves) [182], and shear waves. Generally speaking, SHM systems consist of transducer systems used for actuation and measurement accompanied with an inversion algorithm aiming to reconstruct SHM causalities of interest. Owing to a number of numerical challenges, conventional solutions to related inverse guided waves problems are generally not feasible [177]. Consequentially, alternative methodologies have been proposed including, for example, inverse filtering [183], reverse time migration [184, 185], Bayesian/probabilistic [186, 187], amongst emerging inversion approaches.

While not comprehensive due to the breadth of inverse problems in dynamical SHM, this subsection has aimed to provide a glimpse into the innovation and emerging methodologies used in the area. Without question, the use of dynamical inversion based techniques is well established in conventional monitoring. However, in some areas (such as guided wave monitoring) it remains in the early stages of development and affords numerous research opportunities. Lastly, it is worth mentioning that with the advent of modern machine learning methods, we can only anticipate significant advances in forthcoming years as trained networks are now capable of addressing key SHM challenges related to, for example, model error estimation/correction [188] and reducing computational demands associated with many SHM facets [189, 190].

5.4 Computer vision inverse problems in SHM

In the past decade, computer vision-based SHM methods have become an emerging field in inverse engineering problems. Relying on digital images, videos, and computer vision algorithms, vision-based SHM techniques enable affordable and rapid structural prognosis. The concept of vision-based inverse problems is straightforward: visual information from the external surfaces of structures is captured through non-contact digital cameras, serving as input data for computer vision algorithms in detecting, localising, and quantifying structural damage in a variety of contexts.

Computer vision-based inverse problems can be either static or dynamic in nature. In dynamical environments, a digital camera is treated as a vision sensor measuring dynamic structural responses. Instead of directly capturing the structural vibration through contact-based sensors (e.g. accelerometers), computer vision algorithms can track structural responses through a series of digital images or a video stream. For example, in [191], researchers applied a video feature tracking technique to measure the pixel movements of a structural component under a service load using a consumer-grade digital camera. These movements were then converted into displacements using a scaling factor. The proposed method was subsequently verified against measurements obtained via a linear variable differential transformer (LVDT) in a setup capturing dynamic response of a structural girder in a football stadium. Similar efforts have been reported in [192, 193, 194]. Furthermore, through the usage of cameras as displacement sensors, other key structural features, such as natural frequencies/mode shapes [195, 196], beam influence lines [197], and bridge cable loads [198] have been be estimated.

In addition to tracking the surface motion, computer vision algorithms can offer rapid and reliable inspections against different types of structural damage such as cracks [199], concrete spalling [200], steel corrosion [201], and other structural deterioration [202]. To make it is viable, researchers develop computer vision algorithms to scan and extract damage-induced visual features either across the entire image scene or within a small predefined image patch (e.g. region of interest) that is prone to structural deterioration. In general, the image-based damage extraction techniques can be categorised as: (a) machine or deep learning-based methods; and (b) non-learning based methods.

The idea of machine or deep learning-based (computer vision) methods is to train a damage detection classifier through an image dataset with pre-labeled structural damage. Thereafter, a computer vision algorithm is used in characterising structural damage from newly captured images. Some of the successful applications in this field include detection of concrete cracks [203, 204, 199] and spalling [200], steel cracks [205, 206], bolt loosening [207, 208], steel surface defects [200, 209], pavement cracks [202], and complex situations where multiple damage types exist [210]. In contrast, non-learning based methods can directly pick up image features caused by structural damage, and hence do not require any prior knowledge in training the classifier. For instance, fatigue cracks in steel bridges can be identified through crack breathing behaviour [211]. Also, loosened bolts in steel connections can be quantified by extracting the differential features provoked by bolt head rotations [212]. Fig. 7 illustrates an example by comparing two images of a steel connection at different inspection periods to extract the differential features provoked by the loosened bolts.



Figure 7: An example of vision-based bolt loosening detection where image (a) and (b) are images of a bolted connection taken at different inspection periods. Two loosened steel bolts are shown in the blow-up figures with counterclockwise rotations in their bolt heads. Using a series of image processing techniques, the differential features caused by the bolt loosening can be identified in c). Detailed discussion can be found in [212].

The concept of image-based damage extraction can be extended from detecting macrolevel structural damage (e.g. cracks, corrosion) to quantifying micro-level material characteristics (e.g. strain fields, displacement fields, micro cracks). DIC techniques have been well studied in the past decades to fit such a role. The technique enables an accurate measurement of subtle changes of the structural surface through comparison of images taken at different time periods. Generally, DIC approaches rely on professionalgrade digital cameras, surface roughness pre-treatments, applied speckle patterns, special lighting conditions, and/or off-the-shelf image processing software platforms. Some relevant DIC applications in the contect of computer visions include reconstructing strain fields [213, 214], evaluating micro cracks [215], quantifying the stress intensity factor for a fatigue problem [216], and capturing displacement fields [217].

Computer vision-based methods also show great promise for damage detection and pattern recognition for full scale civil structures. Utilising the platform of unmanned aerial vehicles (UAVs), the on-board UAV camera can rapidly scan the structure including the locations that are challenging to be accessed by traditional contact-based sensors. As a result, the condition of the structure can be estimated and delivered to the stakeholders in a timely manner. For example, researchers in [218, 219, 220] applied UAVs and vision algorithms to leverage effective approaches for post-earthquake building inspections. Similar efforts have been reported for inspecting dams [221, 222, 223], tunnels [224, 225], and railways [226]. Other researchers adopted satellite images to examine damage status over a larger scope of work (i.e., multiple buildings at the community level) after natural disasters such as flood, earthquake, volcanic eruption, hurricane, and wildfire [227, 228].

UAV platforms are also capable of collecting a large volume of images of civil structures under different camera angles through automated route planning. Such an advantage can be further enhanced by a computer vision workflow, termed photogrammetry, for the purpose of reconstructing the 3D model of the structure. Relying on structure-from-motion with multi-view stereo (SfM-MVS) algorithms [229], photogrammetry technique can create a 3D structure model based on 2D images. The 3D model could be a dense point cloud, a polygonal mesh model, or a textured model depending on the engineering demands, all of which can be generated through many existing off-the-shelf photogrammetry software packages (e.g. Agisoft Matashape, PIX4Dmapper, ContextCapture). Photogrammetry leverages several potentials in inverse SHM problems. For instance, in recent work, [230] created a dense point cloud of a building in the construction site based on UAV images. Then the point cloud was integrated with a building information modelling (BIM) model for labelling the structural components in original UAV images. In [231], the researchers utilised the dense point cloud to assist the creation of a finite element model of a masonry bridge. The authors argued the benefit of the point cloud is twofold: the point cloud depicted the accurate geometric information of the bridge and offered the results of bridge crack distribution. In [232], researchers generated orthophotos from the textured model generated from a photogrammetry workflow, based on which concrete cracks and spalling of a highway bridge can be quantified. Lastly, in the context of the 2021 Hernando de Soto Bridge incident [233], where a large crack was discovered in a "fracture critical" element by a private engineering firm – yet, previously identified approximately two years earlier by a local operating a commercially available drone: the use of coupled UAV/computer vision approaches to SHM may be more valuable than ever.

5.5 Digital twins and outlook

As this section has illustrated, the use of inverse methodologies in SHM is both well established and an area of active development. With the rapid digital transformation of structural assessment and infrastructure asset management, the emergence of numerous digitally-inspired technologies will play a key role in the future trajectory of inverse problems in SHM. At the forefront, *digital twins* have been the source of increasing research and industrial interest in recent years [234]. While the scope of digital twins' applications spans beyond SHM alone, its basic aim is to provide information on the current or future state of an asset by combining real-time data and a physical/data-driven model offers many potential avenues for engagement with the inverse problems community. Nonetheless, in specifically considering a classical SHM application, such as damage localisation [235]: developments stemming from the inverse community including, for example, state estimation [236, 237, 238], uncertainty/model error approximation/compensation [239, 188, 240], regularisation [241], and model reduction [242], have excellent potential for enriching or enhancing digital twin frameworks.

As a whole, the future outlook for the integration and advancement of inverse methodologies in SHM is very bright. Indeed in the past 20 years, we have seen an exponential increase in high-performance computing and graphical processing processing units development and assimilation into modern civil and mechanical engineering applications [243, 244]. Coupled with powerful inverse frameworks for large-scale problems (e.g. Krylov solvers [245] and distributed computing [246]) and machine learning [247], we can only expect a steady increase in (a) the breadth of inverse problems the SHM community is able to address and (b) and an evolution in innovative inversion-based approaches to solving increasingly challenging SHM problems.

6 Smart materials and structures

So-called *smart* or *self-sensing* materials have received immense research attention in recent decades [248, 249, 250]. A material is said to be self-sensing if it exhibits a measurable property change in response to external stimuli. These materials are able to intrinsically report on their health or condition in a spatially continuous manner and with less hardware/instrumentation burden than is needed for traditional discrete or point-based sensing technologies (e.g. strain gauges, piezoelectric patches, accelerometers, etc.). In the context of structural engineering, external stimuli are often mechanical effects such as deformation, damage, or loads acting on the structure. Hence, integrating smart materials into nextgeneration structures may allow for unprecedented health monitoring and diagnostics.

Although 'self-sensing' is an umbrella term encompassing many different physical effects, self-sensing via the *piezoresistive effect* has perhaps received the most attention to date (see recent reviews [248, 251, 252]). Piezoresistive materials are so-named because they exhibit a change in electrical conductivity (or its inverse, resistivity) upon deformation. This means that every point of a self-sensing material is capable of relaying information on its mechanical state. Damages such as voids, ruptures, or fractures can also be detected since the removal of material represents a conductivity loss. But despite the seemingly great potential of self-sensing materials for structural health and condition monitoring, spatially-continuous piezoresistive-based sensing presents two challenges of particular relevance to inverse problems: (a) It is not practical to instrument electrodes to measure conductivity changes at every point on a structure, which means that it is necessary to deduce a spatially continuous conductivity mapping from a finite set of electrical observations. And (b), even if we could recover a spatially continuous mapping of the conductivity distribution, electrical properties are of little consequence to the structural engineer. We would much rather know the underlying displacement field or damage condition that gives rise to an observed conductivity mapping. In the forthcoming, we will address both of these inverse problems. First however, a brief summary of the physics and prevailing approaches of modelling piezoresistivity in engineered nanocomposites is provided. It will be seen later that modelling techniques are essential to solving the second inverse problem described above.

6.1 Piezoresistive nanocomposites

Many materials intrinsically exhibit some extent of piezoresistivity without explicitly building in self-sensing capabilities. For example, carbon fibre-reinforced polymers (CFRPs)—both continuous and short-chopped fibre—are well known to change conductivity when loaded elastically [253, 254]. Here however, we will instead focus on materials that have been engineered to be self-sensing; that is, an additional constituent has been added to the material system without which it does not exhibit piezoresistivity. This is most commonly done by adding a conductive phase to a non-conductive matrix such as polymers (including structural polymers like epoxy vinyl ester [255], polymeric thin films for use as sensing skins [256], laser-induced graphene inter-layers in continuous fibre composites [257, 258], and even polymer binders in energetic materials [259]), cements [260], or ceramics [261]. Electrical transport is then a consequence of percolation – the composite conducts electricity when sufficiently many conductive fillers have been added to form an electrically connected network. Because the percolation threshold decreases with aspect ratio, conductive fillers with ultra-high aspect ratios like carbon nanotubes (CNTs) are popular. There are considerable challenges associated with manufacturing CNT-based nanocomposites such as achieving good dispersion – ultra-small fillers such as CNTs have a tendency to 'bunch up' or agglomerate which can degrade the mechanical properties of the final composite. But manufacturing challenges are outside of the scope of this manuscript and are well-covered elsewhere [262, 263].

Because of the potential for spatially continuous strain sensing, considerable effort has also been devoted to the development of piezoresistivity models (i.e. forward models used later for piezoresistive inversion) – computational and/or analytical means of predicting how conductivity changes for a prescribed strain. These efforts can be broadly categorised as (a) equivalent resistor network models [264, 265, 266], (b) computational micro-mechanics models [259, 267, 268, 269], or (c) homogenised macroscale models [270, 271, 272]. (a) Equivalent resistor network models take perhaps the most intuitive approach to the piezoresistive effect; high aspect ratio fillers like CNTs are represented as either straight or wavy/curved sticks in a micro-domain [264, 265, 266]. These sticks are then discretised into resistors based on the length, diameter, and conductivity of the fillers, whereas junctions between sufficiently close fillers are discretised into resistor elements based on the equivalent resistance felt by an electron as it goes from filler-tofiller due to either contact resistance or quantum tunnelling [273]. The conductivity of the nanocomposite can then be calculated from the overall resistance of the discretised nanofiller network and the dimensions of the micro-domain. For a prescribed deformation of the micro-domain, the translation and rotation of the fillers can be calculated via elasticity by treating them as rigid-body inclusions [274]. Post-deformation, the conductivity of the micro-domain is recalculated thereby allowing the piezoresistive properties of the composite to be predicted.

As an alternative to equivalent resistor network models, (b) computational micromechanics models use computational means to simulate both phases of the composite – the non-conductive matrix and the conductive fillers [259, 267, 268, 269]. Because of this, and unlike equivalent resistor network models, computational micro-mechanics models can incorporate more nuanced mechanical effects such as nanofiller-to-matrix debonding, nanofiller deformation, etc. A limitation of this approach, however, is that computational micro-mechanics models are computationally expensive due to individual nanofillers and the enveloping matrix being explicitly simulated. It is therefore difficult to scale these models to structural levels.

And as a final representative technique, (c) homogenised macroscale models describe the conductivity of the nanocomposite as an analytical function of the applied strain state. In other words, individual nanofillers are not simulated. Rather conductivity (or resistivity)-strain are coupled through analytical functions based on excluded volume theory [271] or via 'constitutive' tensors (note that these are not proper constitutive relations because conductivity and strain are not energy complements) [272, 275, 276]. This approach is therefore less computationally expensive than equivalent resistor network and computational micro-mechanics models. Importantly, homogenised approaches can be readily integrated with structural analysis tools such as the finite element method, thereby allowing for macroscale piezoresistive analyses. As will be discussed in §66.3, this feature is essential for another inverse problem in smart materials and structural engineering – strain recovery via piezoresistive inversion. Despite these advantages, analytical models have their share of limitations such as having to make assumptions regarding average interfiller spacing, average orientation of nanofillers, and the need for calibration or training data. They may also suffer from local inaccuracies due to the highly variable nature of piezoresistive nanocomposites.

6.2 Conductivity imaging via EIT/ERT

As discussed previously in §55.2, electrical conductivity imaging modalities such as EIT (or DC resistivity imaging via ERT) have recently been explored for damage detection and health monitoring in structural materials [252]. EIT is a natural complement for materials that are self-sensing via the piezoresistive effect because it allows for spatial localisation of not only damage, but it also allows for spatially continuous mapping of deformation and strain. There are several factors that make the EIT particularly interesting to pair with self-sensing materials: (a) This combination allows for sub-surface strain imaging. That is, a myriad of techniques exist for monitoring surface strains such as strain gauges, DIC, holographic methods, etc. Tools for studying sub-surface strains, however, are much more limited, often require ionising radiation, and can be costly (e.g. volumetric strains via X-ray digital volume correlation [277]). (b) Aspects of EIT that are typically seen as limitations in other applications such as biomedical imaging are actually of benefit to piezoresistive materials. For example, the simplest and perhaps most pervasive implementation of EIT favours spatially smooth solutions. This is obviously undesirable when imaging discontinuous features with distinct boundaries such as organs in a living body. Strain fields, however, are often smoothly varying thereby playing into EIT's strengths. And (c), because piezoresistive materials are engineered, we can leverage our knowledge of their piezoresistive response to build reasonable constraints into the EIT inverse problem (i.e. by knowing the upper and lower bounds on conductivity change within a strain range of interest). Two examples of strain imaging via EIT in self-sensing polymeric composites are shown in Fig. 8. In both these cases, knowledge of the piezoresistive properties of the composites is leveraged to build conductivity change bounds into the EIT inverse problem.

There have been many studies on the topic of EIT and piezoresistive materials. A few representative examples are summarised in this manuscript, but interested readers are directed to a recent review for a more in-depth discussion [252]. Some of the first work in this area made use of self-sensing nanocomposite thin films (or *sensing skins*) produced by a layer-by-layer fabrication technique [256, 278]. These sensing skins were applied to

substrates, and EIT was then used to identify and spatially localise deleterious effects including mechanical etching, pH exposure, impact damage, and residual strains from impacts. Further on the topic of polymer-based composites, thin pressure sensors were produced by embedding a non-woven textile modified with CNTs into a soft elastomer. EIT was then employed to visualise various pressure distributions including non-uniform distributions [279]. EIT was also recently applied for damage detection in a ceramicbased composite that was modified with micron-sized waste-iron particles [280]. And as a final representative example, this time with regard to cementitious materials, self-sensing cement composites have been produced by spray-depositing a CNT-modified latex on the aggregate phase. EIT was then successfully used to detect and localise various damages in the material [281].

6.3 Piezoresistive inversion

The preceding sub-sections have summarised self-sensing materials and their relevance to EIT. Even though solving the EIT inverse problem allows for the spatially continuous visualisation of mechanical effects in these materials, this poses an obvious problem – structural engineers and mechanicians are generally not interested in electrical effects like conductivity. They would much rather know the spatially-varying components of the strain tensor, stress tensor, or precise damage characteristics of the structure or material since these factors drive structural analyses and health assessments. Recalling also that various macroscale piezoresistivity models exist as described in §66.1, we can formulate another inverse problem as follows: "for a given EIT conductivity distribution (or, more directly, for a given set of EIT boundary data) and with an accurate model of conductivity-strain or conductivity-damage coupling for a particular material, can the precise mechanics of the system be recovered?"

Both of these piezoresistive inversion problems—strain recovery and damage recovery—are challenging. The former is challenging because, under ideal circumstances, we seek six components (in 3D) of a strain tensor from a scalar conductivity field. Prospects can be improved somewhat by instead seeking the displacement field (i.e. three unknowns in 3D) from the conductivity data and making use of reasonable assumptions (e.g. plane strain and plane stress) where applicable, but the displacements-from-conductivity inverse problem is nonetheless under-determined. The challenge is exacerbated by the fact that circumstances are never truly ideal; conductivity and conductivity changes are not exactly isotropic (especially for self-sensing continuous fibre composites), and EIT cannot image individual components of a conductivity tensor. Even for the latter case of damage imaging, one must still have an accurate model of material breakage-induced conductivity changes, which is certainly not trivial. For simple nanofiller/matrix phase nanocomposites (i.e. without reinforcing fibre), material breakage can be modelled as a cessation of electrical transport. For more complicated material systems such as nanofiller-modified continuous fibre composites, however, material breakage-induced conductivity changes must account for factors such as anisotropy and residual post-damage conductivity due to, for example, inter-laminae contact. And even if a suitable damage model is developed, the inverse solver needs to be capable of reproducing potentially complex damage shapes that are not readily amenable to parameterisation. Both strain and damage recovery are additionally hampered by the fact that EIT does not produce accurate conductivity distributions in an absolute sense (i.e. EIT generally underpredicts conductivity change magnitudes) or a spatial sense.

Despite these challenges, the piezoresistive inversion problem has received some attention to date. An initial effort in this area used an analytical inversion framework pred-



Figure 8: Examples of the EIT and piezoresistive inversion inverse problems applied to self-sensing nanocomposites. a) A soft CNF-modified polyurethane is deformed by three rigid, non-conductive indentors [282]. EIT is then used to image the deformation-induced conductivity changes, and piezoresistive inversion is used to recover the displacement field of the material (multiplied by a factor of five for ease of visibility). b) A hard CNF-modified epoxy is loaded in tension with a stress raiser at its centre [283]. EIT is again used to image the resulting conductivity change (note the large conductivity changes in the vicinity of the hole). Lastly, piezoresistive inversion is used to recover the underlying displacement field. From this and with knowledge of the material's elastic properties, strains and stresses can be spatially mapped. The first principal stress of the guage section is shown here along with comparison to a traditional FEM solution for validation.

icated on iteratively minimising the l_2 -norm of an error vector between a predicted and observed conductivity distribution [284]. Although this work was entirely computational and limited to simple deformations and infinitesimal strains, it nonetheless demonstrated that piezoresistive inversion was possible. The next work in this area used EIT to image strain-induced conductivity changes in a carbon nanofiber (CNF)-modified polyurethane (PU) composite [282]. CNF/PU is a soft elastomeric composite that can be easily deformed by hand. Three marbles (i.e. comparatively rigid non-conductive indentors) were pushed into the CNF/PU as EIT measurements were taken. An analytical piezoresistive inversion approach predicated on iteratively minimising the l_2 -norm of an error vector was again used to reproduce the displacement field (and hence the strain and stress fields via kinematic and constitutive relations, respectively). Two important factors differentiated this study – experimental validation of piezoresistive inversion and successful application to materials undergoing finite strains. Later works looked at utilising metaheuristic algorithms for solving the strains-from-conductivity inverse problem in a CNF-modified epoxy [283, 285]. The CNF/epoxy was moulded in the shape of a plate with a hole and loaded in tension, causing strain concentrations in the vicinity of the hole. Metaheuristic algorithms including genetic algorithms, simulated annealing, and particle swarm optimisation were explored because it was observed that the analytical formulation failed to converge to the physically correct solution for this more complex loading state. It was found that genetic algorithms performed the best for this inverse problem, but all methods compared favourably to DIC experimental validation. Because epoxy is relatively brittle, these studies were necessarily limited to infinitesimal strains. Despite the successes of the preceding studies on strain recovery, they were all limited to more-or-less isotropic materials (electrically and mechanically). Translating these capabilities to electro-mechanically anisotropic materials remains a daunting challenge. Fig. 8 also shows some preliminary results for strain recovery via piezoresistive inversion.

Some work has also been done for damage recovery via piezoresistive inversion. Recall that a key challenge with the damage recovery inverse problem is shape parameterisation. To that end, these preliminary studies have considered relatively simple damage cases. For example, various machine learning algorithms were used to categorise three damage conditions (in addition to an undamaged or healthy condition) in a self-sensing bone cement directly from EIT boundary voltage data [286]. To clarify, bone cement is poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA) used to facilitate robust contact between an othopaedic implant (e.g. a total joint replacement) and hard bone. Failure of the PMMA interface is often difficult to detect via radiographic imaging, hence the motivation for alternative diagnostic tools. This clarification aside, the parameterisation was relatively simple in this case - only four distinct damage states were possible. Nonetheless, the combination of EIT boundary voltage data, self-sensing PMMA bone cement, and machine learning allowed for correct damage classification with over 90% accuracy. Elsewhere, image recognitionbased machine learning was used to identify, size, and localise through-hole damage to a self-sensing composite plate [287]. In this study, the image recognition algorithm was trained using computationally generated EIT images on a simple square domain punctured by a random number of randomly sized circular holes. The trained network was able to adeptly predict through-hole size, location, and number from EIT conductivity maps with good accuracy – likely better accuracy than human interpretation of EIT images. But this again utilised a very simple damage parameterisation (i.e. needing only to predict hole number, radius, and in-plane coordinates). Real damages are obviously much more complex than simple through-holes. As a final example of damage recovery, a recent study looked at delamination shaping from EIT images in CNF-modified glass fibre/epoxy laminates [288]. In this study, delaminations (i.e. inter-laminae separations) induced by low-velocity impacts were parameterised as ellipses of unknown major and minor axes and centred at unknown in-plane coordinates. A genetic algorithm was used to inversely determine these parameters by minimising the l_1 -norm of the difference between experimentally collected EIT boundary voltage data and boundary voltage data predicted by a computational model of the damaged domain. Destructive analyses of the post-impacted laminates revealed that the GA-predicted damage state much more closely matched the actual delamination size and shape than the EIT conductivity images. This third example of damage recovery is particularly noteworthy because it represents a much more realistic set of conditions (i.e. recovering realistic impact damage in an actual structural composite).

Summarily, this section has looked at smart or self-sensing materials from the perspective of structural inverse problems. Two noteworthy inverse problems were discussed – the EIT inverse problem for the imaging of spatially distributed mechanical effects and the strain/damage recovery problem. The former has been extensively researched in other fields (e.g. [289]). The latter, however, is much more recent and has only been the subject of a few precursory studies. Much work remains to be done regarding the inversion of electrical data to obtain underlying mechanical effects.

7 A look forward: machine learning and education

This paper has, to this point, evidenced the pervasiveness of inverse problems and methodologies used in the field of structural engineering. Yet, the following remains to question: "what is guiding the future trajectory of inversion in structural engineering?" In this section, we examine what we foresee as the two most influential future areas in addressing this question: machine learning and education.

7.1 Machine learned inversion

Many areas of structural engineering rely heavily on applied mathematics and science – from the integration of material models within finite element frameworks to experimental measurement of structural response excitation. From a broad scientific perspective, there are two paradigms to research, either (a) the Keplerian paradigm (data driven, obtaining discoveries via data analysis) or (b) the Newtonian paradigm (first principles, discovery through fundamental principles) [290]. Without question, structural engineering research uses both principles.

Often, first principles approaches are manifested via partial differential equations (PDEs) and their analytical or numerical solutions. However, both in research and practice, obtaining solutions to PDEs can be infeasible or intractable, for example owing to computational demand, a dearth in available numerical regimes and/or the "curse of dimensionality" [291]. In such cases where engineering problems are governed by such PDEs, solving a related inverse problem using a conventional methodology would also be a dubious task. When faced with this situation, we are most likely constrained to adopting a Keplerian approach.

Unmistakably, machine learning has provided the science and engineering communities with a powerful tool for data-driven analysis, prediction, assessment, and significantly more. Structural engineering research has also greatly benefited from machine learning, especially in the areas of performance assessment [292], SHM [10] and analysis of various structural phenomena [293]. Yet, significantly less attention has been paid to the use of machine learning for solving inverse problems in structural engineering outside of areas such as SHM and NDE (as identified in §5).

Exemplifying this reality, structural design highly under utilises machine learning and data science. Design is traditionally associated with an iterative nature, in which various structural concepts are tested conceptually until a prevailing option is identified which adheres to constraints initially identified. The nature of this iterative design process has been understood in the past using both positivist, pragmatic and post-modernist epistemologies ranging from Simon's "science of the artificial" [294], Schön's "reflexive practice" [295] and Buchanan's "placements for contextualisation" [296] respectively. The complexities involved in design from satisfying conflicting demands to exercising appropriate judgements is hence often attributed as being an innate human skill [55]. As explained in §3, the ill-posedness of structural design, and the need for an iterative solution approach, can be adequately accounted for by the inverse problem perspective.

However, recent developments successfully solving inverse problems using data-driven approaches suggest that such methodologies could also be incorporated within structural design [24]. This challenges the notion that design is an exclusive human ability, a development which mimics the success of self-driving cars through data-driven approaches [297]. What is typically considered "intuition" or "engineering judgement" may in fact be recalling "data-points", committed to long-term memory through the process of experience, that are suitable solutions based on the unique set of constraints one is presented with [294]. This is exactly what data-driven approaches using machine learning achieve: they generate mapping functions which correlate a set of inputs (a design situations with a specific set of constraints) to associated outputs (viable structural solutions) by learning from a given data set (experience).

We therefore believe that this inverse problem perspective might help evidence the need for future research on the development of machine learning tools for structural design. It is not uncommon for data-driven approaches to be dismissed on the grounds that they simply constitute "black-boxes" which lack a scientific rational for their outputs. However, this criticism might be completely unwarranted and may in fact highlight the dogmatic concentration within academia on exclusively solving forward problems, which due to their well-posed nature, lend themselves to engineering science thinking. The inverse problem perspective indicates the need for a different type of approach, which machine learning might provide. Indeed, research using neural networks and clustering have been recently investigated to form a bridge, using computer aided design, structural equilibrium constraints and human design criteria and objectives, to navigate the design space and shortlist viable and fitting designs [298, 299]. Other researchers have also focused on the use of machine-learning models to build suitable structural predictors for conceptual design related to building massing [300].

The former developments are, in our view, only a starting point for the employment of machine learned models used in solving inverse problems in structural engineering as a new horizon of data-driven approaches emerge. Especially, for the cases involving intractable forward problems, model reduction techniques have been promising [301, 12, 302, 303], but these are either difficult to design by hand or are restricted by overly simplistic assumptions. Here, data driven approaches are a powerful alternative to compensate for modelling errors [188, 239, 304] or reducing computational cost of iterative optimisation schemes by model approximations [31, 305]. Finally, we note that recent developments in geometric learning extend deep networks on Euclidean meshes to general meshes, such as finite elements, by a embedding them into graph structures essentially utilising the underlying geometry [306, 307]. This opens the possibility to extend many data driven approaches to complex structural problems.

7.2 Inverse methodology in structural engineering education

Over the last 100 years, engineering education has experienced a number of fundamental shifts: a shift in focus away from design to engineering science in the 1960s, the rise of outcome-based accreditation in the UK and USA in the 1990s, along with a re-emphasis of teaching design through capstone projects in the 2000s [308]. There also is the continued tension between teaching graduates both the technical knowledge as well as the interpersonal skills demanded from industry deemed necessary to become effective designers [34]. To this day, there exists the debate on how to find the required balance between *knowledge-that* and *knowledge-how* as identified in §3 [309]. For civil and structural engineering disciplines, we believe that some of these challenges might be addressed by communicating the existence of inverse problems, their pervasive occurrences as shown by the sections above, and teaching the various methods and techniques for solving such problems.

The dominance of engineering science within university curricula today, which primarily focuses on identifying and solving forward problems, might unintentionally generate the wrong supposition that all problems in engineering are well-posed with idealised assumptions. Without adequately addressing the existence of inverse-problems, and their distinctively qualitative differences with forward problems, it is easy to mistakenly assume that, for example, structural design is the application of such "forward problems". However, the idea that engineering is simply "putting theory intro practice" [55] or "applied science" [310] has been strongly argued against by numerous engineers and philosophers [54, 311, 312, 313]. The challenge which students face when dealing with real-world design problems might be accounted for by the fact that during the majority of their engineering education, they might lack a conceptual framework to adequately demarcate design from analysis. Similarly, in order to engage with other promising fields of structural engineering, such as structural health monitoring, blast engineering and smart materials, educating students on inverse problems is crucial.

Hence, a possible improvement for current civil and structural engineering curricula is introducing students to the existence of forward and inverse problems, how they relate to one another and provide examples where each type of problem arises and how we solve them. As identified previously, this will also potentially require teaching students a host of new skills, especially if data-driven models continue to be effective tools for solving inverse problems, as is the case in structural health monitoring and increasingly likely in design. More importantly, especially when taking into consideration the recent developments in data science ranging from CNNs [314], transformers [315] and graph neural networks [316], there exists a vast spectrum of knowledge and applications we may not even be aware of.

As a matter of fact, in terms of research, we are perhaps faced with a unique situation in academia today. Although only time will tell, it could be argued that similar to how the "invention" (or discovery) of calculus in the 18th century was instrumental in providing us necessary tools for solving forward problems, resulting in material models and PDEs which allow the creation of complex finite-element methods, so too might the rise of machine-learning and data-science, which is only now starting to gain serious attention in mathematics [290], allow a more rigorous treatment of solving inverse problems. By realising the pervasiveness of inverse problems in structural engineering, but also the fundamental differences with forward problems, there is potentially a vast, untouched and exciting realm of research which awaits.

8 Conclusion

Structural engineering is not entirely the lost child of inverse problems; rather, the relationship needs to work on its communication skills. Indeed, this article has demonstrated that numerous structural engineering sub-fields may be either fundamentally or partially viewed as inverse problems. It was shown that this concept is well accepted in, for example structural health monitoring; however, sub-fields such as structural design are not commonly (formally) defined as inverse problems. We argue that, by shifting this paradigm in structural engineering academia and industry, we may collectively capitalise from the rich methodologies and approaches already established in the inverse problems community. This beneficial relationship between structural and inverse communities is expected to pay exponential dividends as new tools, such as machine learned models, emerge and develop – offering new opportunities for solving previously inaccessible, intractable, and/or unforeseen structural challenges.

References

[1] Junuthula Narasimha Reddy. Introduction to the finite element method. McGraw-Hill Education, 2019.

- [2] Karan S Surana and Junuthula Narasimha Reddy. The finite element method for boundary value problems: mathematics and computations. CRC press, 2016.
- [3] Thomas JR Hughes. The finite element method: linear static and dynamic finite element analysis. Courier Corporation, 2012.
- [4] Olgierd Cecil Zienkiewicz, Robert Leroy Taylor, Perumal Nithiarasu, and JZ Zhu. The finite element method, volume 3. McGraw-hill London, 1977.
- [5] Kuldeep S Virdi. Finite difference method for nonlinear analysis of structures. Journal of Constructional Steel Research, 62(11):1210–1218, 2006.
- [6] Tadeusz Liszka and Janusz Orkisz. The finite difference method at arbitrary irregular grids and its application in applied mechanics. *Computers & Structures*, 11(1-2):83– 95, 1980.
- [7] Jonás D De Basabe and Mrinal K Sen. A comparison of finite-difference and spectralelement methods for elastic wave propagation in media with a fluid-solid interface. *Geophysical Journal International*, 200(1):278–298, 2015.
- [8] Paweł Kudela, Arkadiusz Żak, Marek Krawczuk, and Wiesław Ostachowicz. Modelling of wave propagation in composite plates using the time domain spectral element method. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 302(4-5):728–745, 2007.
- [9] Boyce E. Griffith and Xiaoyu Luo. Hybrid finite difference/finite element immersed boundary method. International journal for numerical methods in biomedical engineering, 33(12):e2888, 2017.
- [10] Charles R Farrar and Keith Worden. Structural health monitoring: a machine learning perspective. John Wiley & Sons, 2012.
- [11] Gui-Rong Liu and Xu Han. Computational inverse techniques in nondestructive evaluation. CRC press, 2003.
- [12] Jari Kaipio and Erkki Somersalo. Statistical and computational inverse problems, volume 160. Springer Science & Business Media, 2006.
- [13] Jonas Adler and Ozan Öktem. Solving ill-posed inverse problems using iterative deep neural networks. *Inverse Problems*, 33(12):124007, 2017.
- [14] AP Calderon. On an inverse boundary. In Seminar on Numerical Analysis and its Applications to Continuum Physics, Rio de Janeiro, 1980, pages 65–73. Brazilian Math. Soc., 1980.
- [15] Albert Tarantola, Bernard Valette, et al. Inverse problems= quest for information. Journal of geophysics, 50(1):159–170, 1982.
- [16] Frank Natterer. The mathematics of computerized tomography. SIAM, 2001.
- [17] Jennifer L Mueller and Samuli Siltanen. Linear and nonlinear inverse problems with practical applications. SIAM, 2012.
- [18] Heinz Werner Engl, Martin Hanke, and Andreas Neubauer. Regularization of inverse problems, volume 375. Springer Science & Business Media, 1996.

- [19] Adrian I Nachman. Reconstructions from boundary measurements. Annals of Mathematics, 128(3):531–576, 1988.
- [20] Adrian I Nachman. Global uniqueness for a two-dimensional inverse boundary value problem. Annals of Mathematics, pages 71–96, 1996.
- [21] A.N. Tikhonov and V.Y. Arsenin. Solutions of Ill-posed Problems. John Wiley & Sons Inc, 1977.
- [22] L. I. Rudin, S. Osher, and E. Fatemi. Nonlinear total variation based noise removal algorithms. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 60(1):259–268, 1992.
- [23] Eldad Haber, Uri M Ascher, and Doug Oldenburg. On optimization techniques for solving nonlinear inverse problems. *Inverse problems*, 16(5):1263, 2000.
- [24] Simon Arridge, Peter Maass, Ozan Öktem, and Carola-Bibiane Schönlieb. Solving inverse problems using data-driven models. Acta Numerica, 28:1–174, 2019.
- [25] Kyong Hwan Jin, Michael T McCann, Emmanuel Froustey, and Michael Unser. Deep convolutional neural network for inverse problems in imaging. *IEEE Transactions* on Image Processing, 26(9):4509–4522, 2017.
- [26] Inpil Kang, Mark J Schulz, Jay H Kim, Vesselin Shanov, and Donglu Shi. A carbon nanotube strain sensor for structural health monitoring. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 15(3):737, 2006.
- [27] Sarah Jane Hamilton and Andreas Hauptmann. Deep d-bar: Real-time electrical impedance tomography imaging with deep neural networks. *IEEE transactions on medical imaging*, 37(10):2367–2377, 2018.
- [28] Jonas Adler and Ozan Öktem. Learned primal-dual reconstruction. IEEE transactions on medical imaging, 37(6):1322–1332, 2018.
- [29] Kerstin Hammernik, Teresa Klatzer, Erich Kobler, Michael P Recht, Daniel K Sodickson, Thomas Pock, and Florian Knoll. Learning a variational network for reconstruction of accelerated mri data. *Magnetic resonance in medicine*, 79(6):3055–3071, 2018.
- [30] Andreas Hauptmann, Felix Lucka, Marta Betcke, Nam Huynh, Jonas Adler, Ben Cox, Paul Beard, Sebastien Ourselin, and Simon Arridge. Model-based learning for accelerated, limited-view 3-d photoacoustic tomography. *IEEE transactions on medical imaging*, 37(6):1382–1393, 2018.
- [31] Danny Smyl, Tyler N Tallman, Dong Liu, and Andreas Hauptmann. An efficient quasi-newton method for nonlinear inverse problems via learned singular values. *IEEE Signal Processing Letters*, 28:748–752, 2021.
- [32] Jian Zhang and Bernard Ghanem. Ista-net: Interpretable optimization-inspired deep network for image compressive sensing. In *Proceedings of the IEEE conference on computer vision and pattern recognition*, pages 1828–1837, 2018.
- [33] Vishal Monga, Yuelong Li, and Yonina C Eldar. Algorithm unrolling: Interpretable, efficient deep learning for signal and image processing. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 38(2):18–44, 2021.

- [34] Edward Crawley, Johan Malmqvist, Soren Ostlund, Doris Brodeur, and Kristina Edstrom. Rethinking engineering education. The CDIO Approach, 302:60–62, 2007.
- [35] Bruce E. Seely. The other re-engineering of engineering education, 1900-1965.
 Journal of Engineering Education, 88(3):285-294, 1999. ISSN 10694730. doi: 10.1002/j.2168-9830.1999.tb00449.x.
- [36] Allan Mann. Historical development of structural theories and methods of modern computer. Institution of Structural Engineers, 2016.
- [37] Emma Coleman, Tripp Shealy, Jacob Grohs, and Allison Godwin. Design thinking among first-year and senior engineering students: A cross-sectional, national study measuring perceived ability. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 109(1):72–87, 2020. ISSN 10694730. doi: 10.1002/jee.20298.
- [38] William Bulleit, Jon Schmidt, Irfan Alvi, Erik Nelson, and Tonatiuh Rodriguez-Nikl. Philosophy of engineering: What it is and why it matters. *Journal of Professional Issues in Engineering Education and Practice*, 141(3):1–9, 2015.
- [39] Herbert A. Simon. The structure of ill structured problems. *Artificial Intelligence*, 4(3-4):181–201, 1973.
- [40] Clive L. Dym, Alice M. Agogino, Ozgur Eris, Daniel D. Frey, and Larry J. Leifer. Engineering design thinking, teaching, and learning. *IEEE Engineering Management Review*, 34(1):65–90, 2006. ISSN 03608581. doi: 10.1109/emr.2006.1679078.
- [41] Horst W.J. Rittel and Melvin M. Webber. Dilemmas in a general theory of planning. Policy Sciences, 4(2):155–169, 1973. ISSN 00322687. doi: 10.1007/BF01405730.
- [42] J.C. Mason, M.W. Manning, A.M Cormie, J.S. Johnston, A.M Low, C. Merlbourne, R.D Nicholl, M.F. Ryland, and F.E. Weare. *Structural design – the engineer's role*. IStructE Ltd, 2nd edition, 2018. ISBN 9781906335205.
- [43] O M Alifanov. Methods of solving ill-posed inverse problems. Journal of Engineering Physics, 45(5):1237–1245, 1983.
- [44] Jann-Nan Yang. Application of optimal control theory to civil engineering structures. Journal of the engineering Mechanics Division, 101(6):819–838, 1975.
- [45] Chris Wise. Introduction: Part 1 Structure is everywhere! The Institution of Structural Engineers, London, 1st edition, 2016.
- [46] Jef Rombouts, Andrew Liew, Geert Lombaert, Lars De Laet, Philippe Block, and Mattias Schevenels. Designing bending-active gridshells as falsework for concrete shells through numerical optimization. *Engineering Structures*, 240:112352, 2021. ISSN 0141-0296. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.engstruct.2021.112352. URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0141029621005022.
- [47] A. Liew, Y.R. Stürz, S. Guillaume, T. Van Mele, R.S. Smith, and P. Block. Active control of a rod-net formwork system prototype. Automation in Construction, 96:128-140, 2018. ISSN 0926-5805. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. autcon.2018.09.002. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0926580516304137.

- [48] T. Van Mele, D. Panozzo, O. Sorkine-Hornung, and P. Block. Best-fit thrust network analysis - rationalization of freeform meshes. In S. Adriaenssens, P. Block, D. Veenendaal, and C. Williams, editors, *Shell Structures for Architecture: Form Finding and Optimization*. Routledge, London, 2014.
- [49] Helen E Fairclough, Matthew Gilbert, Aleksey V Pichugin, Andy Tyas, and Ian Firth. Theoretically optimal forms for very long-span bridges under gravity loading. Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 474(2217):20170726, 2018.
- [50] A. Liew. Constrained force density method optimisation for compression-only shell structures. Structures, 28:1845-1856, 2020. ISSN 2352-0124. doi: https: //doi.org/10.1016/j.istruc.2020.09.078. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S2352012420305531.
- [51] L. He. and M. Gilbert. Rationalization of trusses generated via layout optimization. Structural and Multidisciplinary Optimization, 52:677–694, 2015. doi: https://doi. org/10.1007/s00158-015-1260-x.
- [52] Ross McKinstray, James BP Lim, Tiku T Tanyimboh, Duoc T Phan, and Wei Sha. Optimal design of long-span steel portal frames using fabricated beams. *Journal of Constructional Steel Research*, 104:104–114, 2015.
- [53] Jun Ye, Jurgen Becque, Iman Hajirasouliha, Seyed Mohammad Mojtabaei, and James B.P. Lim. Development of optimum cold-formed steel sections for maximum energy dissipation in uniaxial bending. *Engineering Structures*, 161:55-67, 2018. ISSN 0141-0296. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.engstruct.2018.01.070. URL https: //www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0141029617311355.
- [54] Billy Vaughn Koen. Discussion of The Method: Conducting the engineer's approach to problem solving. Oxford University Press, New York, 2003.
- [55] William Addis. Structural engineering: the nature of theory and design. Ellis Horwood Limited, Chichester, 1990.
- [56] D. Cormie, G. Mays, and P. Smith. Blast effects on buildings, 2nd ed. Thomas Telford, London, UK, 2009.
- [57] S.E. Rigby, T.J. Lodge, S. Alotaibi, A.D. Barr, S.D. Clarke, G.S. Langdon, and A. Tyas. Preliminary yield estimation of the 2020 Beirut explosion using video footage from social media. *Shock Waves*, 30(6):671–675, 2020.
- [58] D. Ambrosini, B. Luccioni, A. Jacinto, and R. Danesi. Location and mass of explosive from structural damage. *Engineering Structures*, 27(2):167–176, 2005.
- [59] M.M. van der Voort, R.M.M. van Wees, S.D. Brouwer, M.J. van der Jagt-Deutekom, and J. Verreault. Forensic analysis of explosions: Inverse calculation of the charge mass. *Forensic Science International*, 252:11–21, 2015.
- [60] S. D. Clarke, S. D. Fay, J. A. Warren, A. Tyas, S. E. Rigby, and I. Elgy. A large scale experimental approach to the measurement of spatially and temporally localised loading from the detonation of shallow-buried explosives. *Measurement Science and Technology*, 26:015001, 2015.

- [61] SE Rigby, A Tyas, SD Clarke, SD Fay, JJ Reay, JA Warren, M Gant, and I Elgy. Observations from Preliminary Experiments on Spatial and Temporal Pressure Measurements from Near-Field Free Air Explosions. *International Journal of Protective Structures*, 6(2):175–190, 2015.
- [62] R. J. Curry and G. S. Langdon. Transient response of steel plates subjected to close proximity explosive detonations in air. *International Journal of Impact Engineering*, 102:102–116, 2017.
- [63] S. E. Rigby, A. Tyas, R. J. Curry, and G. S. Langdon. Experimental measurement of specific impulse distribution and transient deformation of plates subjected to near-field explosive blasts. *Experimental Mechanics*, 59(2):163–178, 2019.
- [64] S. E. Rigby, O. I. Akintaro, B. J. Fuller, A. Tyas, R. J. Curry, G. S. Langdon, and D. J. Pope. Predicting the response of plates subjected to near-field explosions using an energy equivalent impulse. *International Journal of Impact Engineering*, 128:24–36, 2019.
- [65] J.J. Pannell, G. Panoutsos, S.B. Cooke, D.J. Pope, and S.E. Rigby. Predicting specific impulse distributions for spherical explosives in the extreme near-field using a gaussian function. *International Journal of Protective Structures*, 0(0): 2041419621993492, 2021. doi: 10.1177/2041419621993492. (in press).
- [66] S. Xu, X. Deng, V. Tiwari, M. A. Sutton, W. L. Fourney, and D. Bretall. An inverse approach for pressure load identification. *International Journal of Impact Engineering*, 37(7):865–877, 2010.
- [67] S. Xu, V. Tiwari, X. Deng, M. A. Sutton, and W. L. Fourney. Identification of interaction pressure between structure and explosive with inverse approach. *Experimental Mechanics*, 51(6):815–830, 2011.
- [68] C. Langran-Wheeler, S. Rigby, S.D. Clarke, A. Tyas, C. Stephens, and R. Walker. Near-field spatial and temporal blast pressure distributions from non-spherical charges: Horizontally-aligned cylinders. *International Journal of Protective Structures*, 0(0):20414196211013443, 2021. doi: 10.1177/20414196211013443. (in press).
- [69] A. Tyas, J. J. Reay, S. D. Fay, S. D. Clarke, S. E. Rigby, J. A. Warren, and D. J. Pope. Experimental studies of the effect of rapid afterburn on shock development of near-field explosions. *International Journal of Protective Structures*, 7(3):456–465, 2016.
- [70] S. E. Rigby, R. Knighton, S. D. Clarke, and A. Tyas. Reflected near-field blast pressure measurements using high speed video. *Experimental Mechanics*, 60(7):875– 888, 2020.
- [71] S.E. Rigby, S.D. Fay, A. Tyas, S.D. Clarke, J.J. Reay, J.A. Warren, M. Gant, and I. Elgy. Influence of particle size distribution on the blast pressure profile from explosives buried in saturated soils. *Shock Waves*, 28(3):613–626, 2018.
- [72] Michael I Friswell. Damage identification using inverse methods. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 365(1851):393-410, 2007.

- [73] Gaetan Kerschen, Keith Worden, Alexander F Vakakis, and Jean-Claude Golinval. Past, present and future of nonlinear system identification in structural dynamics. *Mechanical systems and signal processing*, 20(3):505–592, 2006.
- [74] Jyoti K Sinha, MI Friswell, and S Edwards. Simplified models for the location of cracks in beam structures using measured vibration data. *Journal of Sound and* vibration, 251(1):13–38, 2002.
- [75] Jean-Jacques Sinou. A review of damage detection and health monitoring of mechanical systems from changes in the measurement of linear and non-linear vibrations. *Mechanical vibrations: measurement, effects and control*, pages 643–702, 2009.
- [76] Charbel Farhat and Francois M Hemez. Updating finite element dynamic models using an element-by-element sensitivity methodology. AIAA journal, 31(9):1702– 1711, 1993.
- [77] JM Ricles and JB Kosmatka. Damage detection in elastic structures using vibratory residual forces and weighted sensitivity. *AIAA journal*, 30(9):2310–2316, 1992.
- [78] Hai-Ping Lin. Direct and inverse methods on free vibration analysis of simply supported beams with a crack. *Engineering structures*, 26(4):427–436, 2004.
- [79] David Hester and Arturo González. A wavelet-based damage detection algorithm based on bridge acceleration response to a vehicle. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 28:145–166, 2012.
- [80] LJ Hadjileontiadis, E Douka, and A Trochidis. Fractal dimension analysis for crack identification in beam structures. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 19(3): 659–674, 2005.
- [81] Prashant M Pawar and Ranjan Ganguli. Genetic fuzzy system for damage detection in beams and helicopter rotor blades. *Computer methods in applied mechanics and engineering*, 192(16-18):2031–2057, 2003.
- [82] E Lourens, Edwin Reynders, Guido De Roeck, Geert Degrande, and Geert Lombaert. An augmented kalman filter for force identification in structural dynamics. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 27:446–460, 2012.
- [83] JM Nichols, ST Trickey, MD Todd, and LN Virgin. Structural health monitoring through chaotic interrogation. *Meccanica*, 38(2):239–250, 2003.
- [84] Jie Liu, Xingsheng Sun, Xu Han, Chao Jiang, and Dejie Yu. A novel computational inverse technique for load identification using the shape function method of moving least square fitting. *Computers & Structures*, 144:127–137, 2014.
- [85] HA Nasrellah and CS Manohar. A particle filtering approach for structural system identification in vehicle–structure interaction problems. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 329(9):1289–1309, 2010.
- [86] Hamed Ebrahimian, Rodrigo Astroza, Joel P Conte, and Costas Papadimitriou. Bayesian optimal estimation for output-only nonlinear system and damage identification of civil structures. *Structural Control and Health Monitoring*, 25(4):e2128, 2018.

- [87] C.R. Farrar and K. Worden. An introduction to structural health monitoring. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A*, 365:303–315, 2007.
- [88] Keith Worden, Charles R Farrar, Jonathan Haywood, and Michael Todd. A review of nonlinear dynamics applications to structural health monitoring. Structural Control and Health Monitoring: The Official Journal of the International Association for Structural Control and Monitoring and of the European Association for the Control of Structures, 15(4):540–567, 2008.
- [89] Liping Huang, Liang Zeng, and Jing Lin. Baseline-free damage detection in composite plates based on the reciprocity principle. *Smart materials and Structures*, 27 (1):015026, 2017.
- [90] Hoon Sohn, Hyun Woo Park, Kincho H Law, and Charles R Farrar. Combination of a time reversal process and a consecutiv outlier analysis for baseline-free damage diagnosis. *Journal of Intelligent Material Systems and Structures*, 18(4):335–346, 2007.
- [91] João P Santos, André D Orcesi, Christian Crémona, and Paulo Silveira. Baseline-free real-time assessment of structural changes. *Structure and Infrastructure Engineering*, 11(2):145–161, 2015.
- [92] Steven R Anton, Daniel J Inman, and Gyuhae Park. Reference-free damage detection using instantaneous baseline measurements. AIAA journal, 47(8):1952–1964, 2009.
- [93] D Inaudi. Long-term static structural health monitoring. In Structures Congress 2010, pages 566–577, 2010.
- [94] Austin Downey, Antonella D'Alessandro, Micah Baquera, Enrique García-Macías, Daniel Rolfes, Filippo Ubertini, Simon Laflamme, and Rafael Castro-Triguero. Damage detection, localization and quantification in conductive smart concrete structures using a resistor mesh model. *Engineering Structures*, 148:924–935, 2017.
- [95] Zhi Zhou, Wanqiu Liu, Ying Huang, Huaping Wang, He Jianping, Minghua Huang, and Ou Jinping. Optical fiber bragg grating sensor assembly for 3d strain monitoring and its case study in highway pavement. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 28:36–49, 2012.
- [96] David Lecompte, ASHJD Smits, Sven Bossuyt, Hugo Sol, John Vantomme, Danny Van Hemelrijck, and AM Habraken. Quality assessment of speckle patterns for digital image correlation. Optics and lasers in Engineering, 44(11):1132–1145, 2006.
- [97] Liliana Borcea. Electrical impedance tomography. *Inverse problems*, 18(6):R99, 2002.
- [98] Ali Zare Hosseinzadeh, Gholamreza Ghodrati Amiri, and Ki-Young Koo. Optimization-based method for structural damage localization and quantification by means of static displacements computed by flexibility matrix. *Engineering Optimization*, 48(4):543–561, 2016.
- [99] Adnan Kefal and Erkan Oterkus. Displacement and stress monitoring of a panamax containership using inverse finite element method. Ocean Engineering, 119:16–29, 2016.

- [100] Masoud Sanayei, Ali Khaloo, Mustafa Gul, and F Necati Catbas. Automated finite element model updating of a scale bridge model using measured static and modal test data. *Engineering Structures*, 102:66–79, 2015.
- [101] Bo Ni and Huajian Gao. A deep learning approach to the inverse problem of modulus identification in elasticity. MRS Bulletin, 46(1):19–25, 2021.
- [102] Julien Waeytens, Bojana Rosić, P-E Charbonnel, Erick Merliot, Dominique Siegert, Xavier Chapeleau, Roland Vidal, Véronique Le Corvec, and L-M Cottineau. Model updating techniques for damage detection in concrete beam using optical fiber strain measurement device. *Engineering Structures*, 129:2–10, 2016.
- [103] Andre P Ruybalid, Johan PM Hoefnagels, Olaf van der Sluis, and Marc GD Geers. Comparison of the identification performance of conventional fem updating and integrated dic. International Journal for Numerical Methods in Engineering, 106(4): 298–320, 2016.
- [104] Andreas Karageorghis, D Lesnic, and L Marin. The method of fundamental solutions for three-dimensional inverse geometric elasticity problems. *Computers & Structures*, 166:51–59, 2016.
- [105] Florent Mathieu, Hugo Leclerc, François Hild, and Stéphane Roux. Estimation of elastoplastic parameters via weighted femu and integrated-dic. *Experimental Mechanics*, 55(1):105–119, 2015.
- [106] Adnan Kefal, Erkan Oterkus, Alexander Tessler, and Jan L Spangler. A quadrilateral inverse-shell element with drilling degrees of freedom for shape sensing and structural health monitoring. *Engineering science and technology, an international journal*, 19 (3):1299–1313, 2016.
- [107] Danny Smyl, Kim-Niklas Antin, Dong Liu, and Sven Bossuyt. Coupled digital image correlation and quasi-static elasticity imaging of inhomogeneous orthotropic composite structures. *Inverse Problems*, 34(12):124005, 2018.
- [108] Bin Shen, Ilinca Stanciulescu, and Glaucio H Paulino. Inverse computation of cohesive fracture properties from displacement fields. *Inverse Problems in Science and Engineering*, 18(8):1103–1128, 2010.
- [109] Zhi-Hui Xu, Yingchao Yang, Peng Huang, and Xiaodong Li. Determination of interfacial properties of thermal barrier coatings by shear test and inverse finite element method. Acta Materialia, 58(18):5972–5979, 2010.
- [110] Stéphane Avril, Marc Bonnet, Anne-Sophie Bretelle, Michel Grédiac, François Hild, Patrick Ienny, Félix Latourte, Didier Lemosse, Stéphane Pagano, Emmanuel Pagnacco, et al. Overview of identification methods of mechanical parameters based on full-field measurements. *Experimental Mechanics*, 48(4):381–402, 2008.
- [111] B Lecampion and J Gunning. Model selection in fracture mapping from elastostatic data. International journal of solids and structures, 44(5):1391–1408, 2007.
- [112] Fabien Amiot, François Hild, and Jean Paul Roger. Identification of elastic property and loading fields from full-field displacement measurements. *International Journal* of Solids and Structures, 44(9):2863–2887, 2007.

- [113] François Hild and Stéphane Roux. Digital image correlation: from displacement measurement to identification of elastic properties–a review. *Strain*, 42(2):69–80, 2006.
- [114] Marc Bonnet and Andrei Constantinescu. Inverse problems in elasticity. Inverse Problems, 21(2):R1, 2005.
- [115] Antoinette Maniatty, Nicholas Zabaras, and Kim Stelson. Finite element analysis of some inverse elasticity problems. *Journal of engineering mechanics*, 115(6):1303– 1317, 1989.
- [116] Guilherme Ferreira Gomes and João Vitor Purcino Pereira. Sensor placement optimization and damage identification in a fuselage structure using inverse modal problem and firefly algorithm. *Evolutionary Intelligence*, 13(4):571–591, 2020.
- [117] Yonghui An, Eleni Chatzi, Sung-Han Sim, Simon Laflamme, Bartlomiej Blachowski, and Jinping Ou. Recent progress and future trends on damage identification methods for bridge structures. *Structural Control and Health Monitoring*, 26(10):e2416, 2019.
- [118] Luca Colombo, C Sbarufatti, and M Giglio. Definition of a load adaptive baseline by inverse finite element method for structural damage identification. *Mechanical* Systems and Signal Processing, 120:584–607, 2019.
- [119] Moe Amanzadeh, Saiied M Aminossadati, Mehmet S Kizil, and Aleksandar D Rakić. Recent developments in fibre optic shape sensing. *Measurement*, 128:119–137, 2018.
- [120] Raffaella Di Sante. Fibre optic sensors for structural health monitoring of aircraft composite structures: Recent advances and applications. *Sensors*, 15(8):18666– 18713, 2015.
- [121] Priscilla Cerracchio, Marco Gherlone, Marco Di Sciuva, and Alexander Tessler. A novel approach for displacement and stress monitoring of sandwich structures based on the inverse finite element method. *Composite Structures*, 127:69–76, 2015.
- [122] Marco Gherlone, Priscilla Cerracchio, Massimiliano Mattone, Marco Di Sciuva, and Alexander Tessler. An inverse finite element method for beam shape sensing: theoretical framework and experimental validation. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 23 (4):045027, 2014.
- [123] Armen Derkevorkian, Sami F Masri, Jessica Alvarenga, Helen Boussalis, John Bakalyar, and W Lance Richards. Strain-based deformation shape-estimation algorithm for control and monitoring applications. *AIAA journal*, 51(9):2231–2240, 2013.
- [124] Daniel Weisz-Patrault, Alain Ehrlacher, and Nicolas Legrand. Evaluation of contact stress during rolling process, by three dimensional analytical inverse method. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, 50(20-21):3319–3331, 2013.
- [125] Marco Gherlone, Priscilla Cerracchio, Massimiliano Mattone, Marco Di Sciuva, and Alexander Tessler. Shape sensing of 3d frame structures using an inverse finite element method. *International Journal of Solids and Structures*, 49(22):3100–3112, 2012.

- [126] Alexander Tessler, Jan L Spangler, Marco Gherlone, Massimiliano Mattone, and Marco Di Sciuva. Real-time characterization of aerospace structures using onboard strain measurement technologies and inverse finite element method. Technical report, 2011.
- [127] Sharon Kiesel, Patrick Van Vickle, Kara J Peters, Tasnim Hassan, and Mervyn Kowalsky. Intrinsic polymer optical fiber sensors for high-strain applications. In Smart Structures and Materials 2006: Smart Sensor Monitoring Systems and Applications, volume 6167, page 616713. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2006.
- [128] Jun-Hyeok Song, Eun-Taik Lee, and Hee-Chang Eun. Optimal sensor placement through expansion of static strain measurements to static displacements. *International Journal of Distributed Sensor Networks*, 17(1):1550147721991712, 2021.
- [129] Marco Esposito and Marco Gherlone. Composite wing box deformed-shape reconstruction based on measured strains: Optimization and comparison of existing approaches. Aerospace Science and Technology, 99:105758, 2020.
- [130] Wieslaw Ostachowicz, Rohan Soman, and Pawel Malinowski. Optimization of sensor placement for structural health monitoring: A review. *Structural Health Monitoring*, 18(3):963–988, 2019.
- [131] Austin Downey, Antonella D'Alessandro, Simon Laflamme, and Filippo Ubertini. Smart bricks for strain sensing and crack detection in masonry structures. Smart Materials and Structures, 27(1):015009, 2017.
- [132] Mohammadkazem Sadoughi, Austin Downey, Jin Yan, Chao Hu, and Simon Laflamme. Reconstruction of unidirectional strain maps via iterative signal fusion for mesoscale structures monitored by a sensing skin. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 112:401–416, 2018.
- [133] Xiangxiong Kong, Jian Li, William Collins, Caroline Bennett, Simon Laflamme, and Hongki Jo. Sensing distortion-induced fatigue cracks in steel bridges with capacitive skin sensor arrays. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 27(11):115008, 2018.
- [134] Xiangxiong Kong, Jian Li, William Collins, Caroline Bennett, Simon Laflamme, and Hongki Jo. A large-area strain sensing technology for monitoring fatigue cracks in steel bridges. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 26(8):085024, 2017.
- [135] Austin Downey, Simon Laflamme, and Filippo Ubertini. Reconstruction of in-plane strain maps using hybrid dense sensor network composed of sensing skin. *Measurement Science and Technology*, 27(12):124016, 2016.
- [136] Antti Voss, Payam Hosseini, Mohammad Pour-Ghaz, Marko Vauhkonen, and Aku Seppänen. Three-dimensional electrical capacitance tomography – a tool for characterizing moisture transport properties of cement-based materials. *Materials* & Design, 181:107967, 2019. ISSN 0264-1275. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. matdes.2019.107967. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0264127519304058.
- [137] Krzysztof Grudzien, Zbigniew Chaniecki, Andrzej Romanowski, Dominik Sankowski, Jacek Nowakowski, and Maciej Niedostatkiewicz. Application of twin-plane ect sensor for identification of the internal imperfections inside concrete beams. In 2016

IEEE International Instrumentation and Measurement Technology Conference Proceedings, pages 1–6, 2016. doi: 10.1109/I2MTC.2016.7520512.

- [138] Danny Smyl, Mohammad Pour-Ghaz, and Aku Seppänen. Detection and reconstruction of complex structural cracking patterns with electrical imaging. NDT & E International, 99:123–133, 2018.
- [139] Aku Seppänen, Milad Hallaji, and Mohammad Pour-Ghaz. A functionally layered sensing skin for the detection of corrosive elements and cracking. *Structural Health Monitoring*, 16(2):215–224, 2017.
- [140] K. Karhunen, A. Seppänen, A. Lehikoinen, P.J.M. Monteiro, and J.P. Kaipio. Electrical resistance tomography imaging of concrete. *Cement Concrete Research*, 40: 137–145, 2010.
- [141] Reza Rashetnia, Milad Hallaji, Danny Smyl, Aku Seppänen, and Mohammad Pour-Ghaz. Detection and localization of changes in two-dimensional temperature distributions by electrical resistance tomography. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 26 (11):115021, oct 2017. doi: 10.1088/1361-665x/aa8f75. URL https://doi.org/10. 1088/1361-665x/aa8f75.
- [142] Andreas Hauptmann and Danny Smyl. Fusing electrical and elasticity imaging. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A, 379(2200):20200194, 2021.
- [143] Yuequan Bao, Zhicheng Chen, Shiyin Wei, Yang Xu, Zhiyi Tang, and Hui Li. The state of the art of data science and engineering in structural health monitoring. *Engineering*, 5(2):234–242, 2019.
- [144] Xingyu Fan, Jun Li, Hong Hao, and Shenglan Ma. Identification of minor structural damage based on electromechanical impedance sensitivity and sparse regularization. *Journal of Aerospace Engineering*, 31(5):04018061, 2018.
- [145] Jinki Kim and Kon-Well Wang. Electromechanical impedance-based damage identification enhancement using bistable and adaptive piezoelectric circuitry. *Structural Health Monitoring*, 18(4):1268–1281, 2019.
- [146] James MW Brownjohn. Structural health monitoring of civil infrastructure. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 365(1851):589–622, 2007.
- [147] Alireza Entezami and Hashem Shariatmadar. Structural health monitoring by a new hybrid feature extraction and dynamic time warping methods under ambient vibration and non-stationary signals. *Measurement*, 134:548–568, 2019.
- [148] Luís F Ramos, Rafael Aguilar, Paulo B Lourenço, and Susana Moreira. Dynamic structural health monitoring of saint torcato church. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 35(1-2):1–15, 2013.
- [149] Filipe Magalhães, Álvaro Cunha, and Elsa Caetano. Vibration based structural health monitoring of an arch bridge: from automated oma to damage detection. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 28:212–228, 2012.
- [150] Satish Nagarajaiah and Yongchao Yang. Modeling and harnessing sparse and lowrank data structure: a new paradigm for structural dynamics, identification, damage

detection, and health monitoring. *Structural Control and Health Monitoring*, 24(1): e1851, 2017.

- [151] Ki-Young Koo, JMW Brownjohn, DI List, and R Cole. Structural health monitoring of the tamar suspension bridge. *Structural Control and Health Monitoring*, 20(4): 609–625, 2013.
- [152] Darryll Pines and Liming Salvino. Structural health monitoring using empirical mode decomposition and the hilbert phase. Journal of sound and vibration, 294 (1-2):97–124, 2006.
- [153] Yun Hwa Hong, Ho-Kyung Kim, and Hae Sung Lee. Reconstruction of dynamic displacement and velocity from measured accelerations using the variational statement of an inverse problem. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 329(23):4980–5003, 2010.
- [154] Zhimin Wan, Shande Li, Qibai Huang, and Ting Wang. Structural response reconstruction based on the modal superposition method in the presence of closely spaced modes. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 42(1-2):14–30, 2014.
- [155] Bibhas Paul, Riya C George, and Sudib K Mishra. Phase space interrogation of the empirical response modes for seismically excited structures. *Mechanical Systems* and Signal Processing, 91:250–265, 2017.
- [156] JM Nichols, MD Todd, and JR Wait. Using state space predictive modeling with chaotic interrogation in detecting joint preload loss in a frame structure experiment. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 12(4):580, 2003.
- [157] Gang Liu, Zhu Mao, Michael Todd, and Zongming Huang. Damage assessment with state-space embedding strategy and singular value decomposition under stochastic excitation. *Structural Health Monitoring*, 13(2):131–142, 2014.
- [158] Ruigen Yao and Shamim N Pakzad. Autoregressive statistical pattern recognition algorithms for damage detection in civil structures. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 31:355–368, 2012.
- [159] K Krishnan Nair, Anne S Kiremidjian, and Kincho H Law. Time series-based damage detection and localization algorithm with application to the asce benchmark structure. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 291(1-2):349–368, 2006.
- [160] N Dervilis, H Shi, K Worden, and EJ Cross. Exploring environmental and operational variations in shm data using heteroscedastic gaussian processes. In *Dynamics* of *Civil Structures, Volume 2*, pages 145–153. Springer, 2016.
- [161] Mukesh K Ramancha, Rodrigo Astroza, Joel P Conte, Jose I Restrepo, and Michael D Todd. Bayesian nonlinear finite element model updating of a full-scale bridge-column using sequential monte carlo. In *Model Validation and Uncertainty Quantification, Volume 3*, pages 389–397. Springer, 2020.
- [162] Hua-Ping Wan and Yi-Qing Ni. Bayesian multi-task learning methodology for reconstruction of structural health monitoring data. *Structural Health Monitoring*, 18 (4):1282–1309, 2019.
- [163] Hua-Ping Wan and Wei-Xin Ren. Stochastic model updating utilizing bayesian approach and gaussian process model. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 70:245–268, 2016.

- [164] Zhu Mao and Michael Todd. Statistical modeling of frequency response function estimation for uncertainty quantification. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 38(2):333–345, 2013.
- [165] Sergio Cantero-Chinchilla, James L Beck, Manuel Chiachío, Juan Chiachío, Dimitrios Chronopoulos, and Arthur Jones. Optimal sensor and actuator placement for structural health monitoring via an efficient convex cost-benefit optimization. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 144:106901, 2020.
- [166] Giovanni Capellari, Eleni Chatzi, and Stefano Mariani. Cost-benefit optimization of structural health monitoring sensor networks. Sensors, 18(7):2174, 2018.
- [167] Ting-Hua Yi, Hong-Nan Li, and Chuan-Wei Wang. Multiaxial sensor placement optimization in structural health monitoring using distributed wolf algorithm. *Structural Control and Health Monitoring*, 23(4):719–734, 2016.
- [168] Hao Sun and Oral Büyüköztürk. Optimal sensor placement in structural health monitoring using discrete optimization. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 24(12): 125034, 2015.
- [169] Md Zakirul Alam Bhuiyan, Guojun Wang, Jiannong Cao, and Jie Wu. Sensor placement with multiple objectives for structural health monitoring. ACM Transactions on Sensor Networks (TOSN), 10(4):1–45, 2014.
- [170] Ting-Hua Yi, Hong-Nan Li, and Xu-Dong Zhang. A modified monkey algorithm for optimal sensor placement in structural health monitoring. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 21(10):105033, 2012.
- [171] Ting-Hua Yi, Hong-Nan Li, and Ming Gu. Optimal sensor placement for structural health monitoring based on multiple optimization strategies. *The Structural Design* of Tall and Special Buildings, 20(7):881–900, 2011.
- [172] HY Guo, L Zhang, LL Zhang, and JX Zhou. Optimal placement of sensors for structural health monitoring using improved genetic algorithms. *Smart materials* and structures, 13(3):528, 2004.
- [173] Sergio Cantero-Chinchilla, Gerardo Aranguren, José Manuel Royo, Manuel Chiachío, Josu Etxaniz, and Andrea Calvo-Echenique. Structural health monitoring using ultrasonic guided-waves and the degree of health index. Sensors, 21(3):993, 2021.
- [174] MY Li, A Kefal, B Cerik, and E Oterkus. Structural health monitoring of submarine pressure hull using inverse finite element method. In Trends in the Analysis and Design of Marine Structures: Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Marine Structures (MARSTRUCT 2019, Dubrovnik, Croatia, 6-8 May 2019), page 293. CRC Press, 2019.
- [175] Yanfeng Shen. Structural health monitoring using linear and nonlinear ultrasonic guided waves. 2014.
- [176] Ankit Srivastava and Francesco Lanza di Scalea. Quantitative structural health monitoring by ultrasonic guided waves. *Journal of Engineering mechanics*, 136(8): 937–944, 2010.
- [177] Mira Mitra and S Gopalakrishnan. Guided wave based structural health monitoring: A review. Smart Materials and Structures, 25(5):053001, 2016.

- [178] JN Eiras, Tribikram Kundu, John S Popovics, J Monzó, L Soriano, and J Payá. Evaluation of frost damage in cement-based materials by a nonlinear elastic wave technique. In *Health Monitoring of Structural and Biological Systems 2014*, volume 9064, page 90641G. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2014.
- [179] Victor Giurgiutiu. Tuned lamb wave excitation and detection with piezoelectric wafer active sensors for structural health monitoring. *Journal of intelligent material* systems and structures, 16(4):291–305, 2005.
- [180] Sung Woo Shin, Chung-Bang Yun, John S Popovics, and Jae Hong Kim. Improved rayleigh wave velocity measurement for nondestructive early-age concrete monitoring. *Research in Nondestructive Evaluation*, 18(1):45–68, 2007.
- [181] Buli Xu and Victor Giurgiutiu. Single mode tuning effects on lamb wave time reversal with piezoelectric wafer active sensors for structural health monitoring. *Journal of Nondestructive Evaluation*, 26(2):123–134, 2007.
- [182] Chun H Wang, James T Rose, and Fu-Kuo Chang. A synthetic time-reversal imaging method for structural health monitoring. *Smart materials and structures*, 13(2):415, 2004.
- [183] Jochen Moll and Claus-Peter Fritzen. Time-varying inverse filtering for high resolution imaging with ultrasonic guided waves. In 10th European Conference on Non-Destructive Testing, pages 1–10, 2010.
- [184] Jiaze He, Daniel C Rocha, and Paul Sava. Guided wave tomography based on least-squares reverse-time migration. *Structural Health Monitoring*, 19(4):1237–1249, 2020.
- [185] Jiaze He, Cara AC Leckey, Patrick E Leser, and William P Leser. Multi-mode reverse time migration damage imaging using ultrasonic guided waves. Ultrasonics, 94:319–331, 2019.
- [186] Meijie Zhao, Wensong Zhou, Yong Huang, and Hui Li. Sparse bayesian learning approach for propagation distance recognition and damage localization in plate-like structures using guided waves. *Structural Health Monitoring*, page 1475921720902277, 2020.
- [187] Xi Lu, Mingyu Lu, Li-Min Zhou, Zhongqing Su, Li Cheng, Lin Ye, and Guang Meng. Evaluation of welding damage in welded tubular steel structures using guided waves and a probability-based imaging approach. *Smart materials and structures*, 20(1): 015018, 2010.
- [188] Danny Smyl, Tyler N Tallman, Jonathan A Black, Andreas Hauptmann, and Dong Liu. Learning and correcting non-gaussian model errors. *Journal of Computational Physics*, 432:110152, 2021.
- [189] Fuh-Gwo Yuan, Sakib Ashraf Zargar, Qiuyi Chen, and Shaohan Wang. Machine learning for structural health monitoring: challenges and opportunities. In Sensors and Smart Structures Technologies for Civil, Mechanical, and Aerospace Systems 2020, volume 11379, page 1137903. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2020.

- [190] Rafaelle Piazzaroli Finotti, Alexandre Abrahão Cury, and Flávio de Souza Barbosa. An shm approach using machine learning and statistical indicators extracted from raw dynamic measurements. *Latin American Journal of Solids and Structures*, 16 (2), 2019.
- [191] Tung Khuc and F Necati Catbas. Completely contactless structural health monitoring of real-life structures using cameras and computer vision. *Structural Control* and Health Monitoring, 24(1):e1852, 2017.
- [192] Maria Q Feng, Yoshio Fukuda, Dongming Feng, and Masato Mizuta. Nontarget vision sensor for remote measurement of bridge dynamic response. *Journal of Bridge Engineering*, 20(12):04015023, 2015.
- [193] Yan Xu, James Brownjohn, and Dali Kong. A non-contact vision-based system for multipoint displacement monitoring in a cable-stayed footbridge. *Structural Control* and Health Monitoring, 25(5):e2155, 2018.
- [194] Longxi Luo, Maria Q Feng, and Zheng Y Wu. Robust vision sensor for multi-point displacement monitoring of bridges in the field. *Engineering Structures*, 163:255–266, 2018.
- [195] Hyungchul Yoon, Hazem Elanwar, Hajin Choi, Mani Golparvar-Fard, and Billie F Spencer Jr. Target-free approach for vision-based structural system identification using consumer-grade cameras. *Structural Control and Health Monitoring*, 23(12): 1405–1416, 2016.
- [196] Yongchao Yang, Charles Dorn, Tyler Mancini, Zachary Talken, Garrett Kenyon, Charles Farrar, and David Mascareñas. Blind identification of full-field vibration modes from video measurements with phase-based video motion magnification. *Mechanical Systems and Signal Processing*, 85:567–590, 2017.
- [197] Chuan-Zhi Dong, Selcuk Bas, and F Necati Catbas. A completely non-contact recognition system for bridge unit influence line using portable cameras and computer vision. Smart Struct. Syst, 2019.
- [198] Debasish Jana and Satish Nagarajaiah. Computer vision-based real-time cable tension estimation in dubrovnik cable-stayed bridge using moving handheld video camera. Structural Control and Health Monitoring, 28(5):e2713, 2021.
- [199] Zhenqing Liu, Yiwen Cao, Yize Wang, and Wei Wang. Computer vision-based concrete crack detection using u-net fully convolutional networks. Automation in Construction, 104:129–139, 2019.
- [200] Yuqing Gao and Khalid M Mosalam. Deep transfer learning for image-based structural damage recognition. Computer-Aided Civil and Infrastructure Engineering, 33 (9):748–768, 2018.
- [201] Heng-Kuang Shen, Po-Han Chen, and Luh-Maan Chang. Human-visual-perceptionlike intensity recognition for color rust images based on artificial neural network. *Automation in Construction*, 90:178–187, 2018.
- [202] Leo Pauly, D Hogg, R Fuentes, and H Peel. Deeper networks for pavement crack detection. In *Proceedings of the 34th ISARC*, pages 479–485. IAARC, 2017.

- [203] Young-Jin Cha, Wooram Choi, and Oral Büyüköztürk. Deep learning-based crack damage detection using convolutional neural networks. *Computer-Aided Civil and Infrastructure Engineering*, 32(5):361–378, 2017.
- [204] Cao Vu Dung et al. Autonomous concrete crack detection using deep fully convolutional neural network. Automation in Construction, 99:52–58, 2019.
- [205] Fu-Chen Chen and Mohammad R Jahanshahi. Nb-cnn: Deep learning-based crack detection using convolutional neural network and naïve bayes data fusion. *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, 65(5):4392–4400, 2017.
- [206] Yang Xu, Yuequan Bao, Jiahui Chen, Wangmeng Zuo, and Hui Li. Surface fatigue crack identification in steel box girder of bridges by a deep fusion convolutional neural network based on consumer-grade camera images. *Structural Health Monitoring*, 18 (3):653–674, 2019.
- [207] Young-Jin Cha, Kisung You, and Wooram Choi. Vision-based detection of loosened bolts using the hough transform and support vector machines. Automation in Construction, 71:181–188, 2016.
- [208] Thanh-Canh Huynh, Jae-Hyung Park, Hyung-Jo Jung, and Jeong-Tae Kim. Quasiautonomous bolt-loosening detection method using vision-based deep learning and image processing. Automation in Construction, 105:102844, 2019.
- [209] Luiz AO Martins, Flávio LC Pádua, and Paulo EM Almeida. Automatic detection of surface defects on rolled steel using computer vision and artificial neural networks. In *IECON 2010-36th Annual Conference on IEEE Industrial Electronics Society*, pages 1081–1086. IEEE, 2010.
- [210] Young-Jin Cha, Wooram Choi, Gahyun Suh, Sadegh Mahmoudkhani, and Oral Büyüköztürk. Autonomous structural visual inspection using region-based deep learning for detecting multiple damage types. Computer-Aided Civil and Infrastructure Engineering, 33(9):731-747, 2018.
- [211] Xiangxiong Kong and Jian Li. Non-contact fatigue crack detection in civil infrastructure through image overlapping and crack breathing sensing. *Automation in Construction*, 99:125–139, 2019.
- [212] Xiangxiong Kong and Jian Li. Image registration-based bolt loosening detection of steel joints. Sensors, 18(4):1000, 2018.
- [213] B Wattrisse, A Chrysochoos, J-M Muracciole, and M Némoz-Gaillard. Analysis of strain localization during tensile tests by digital image correlation. *Experimental Mechanics*, 41(1):29–39, 2001.
- [214] B Shen and GH Paulino. Direct extraction of cohesive fracture properties from digital image correlation: a hybrid inverse technique. *Experimental Mechanics*, 51 (2):143–163, 2011.
- [215] Jérémie Rupil, Stéphane Roux, François Hild, and Ludovic Vincent. Fatigue microcrack detection with digital image correlation. The Journal of Strain Analysis for Engineering Design, 46(6):492–509, 2011.

- [216] Mehdi Mokhtarishirazabad, P Lopez-Crespo, and Mohammad Zanganeh. Stress intensity factor monitoring under cyclic loading by digital image correlation. Fatigue & Fracture of Engineering Materials & Structures, 41(10):2162–2171, 2018.
- [217] Bin Shen and Glaucio H Paulino. Identification of cohesive zone model and elastic parameters of fiber-reinforced cementitious composites using digital image correlation and a hybrid inverse technique. *Cement and Concrete Composites*, 33(5): 572–585, 2011.
- [218] Donatella Dominici, Maria Alicandro, and Vincenzo Massimi. Uav photogrammetry in the post-earthquake scenario: case studies in l'aquila. *Geomatics, Natural Hazards* and Risk, 8(1):87–103, 2017.
- [219] Jongseong Choi, Chul Min Yeum, Shirley J Dyke, and Mohammad R Jahanshahi. Computer-aided approach for rapid post-event visual evaluation of a building facade. Sensors, 18(9):3017, 2018.
- [220] D Duarte, F Nex, N Kerle, and G Vosselman. Towards a more efficient detection of earthquake induced facade damages using oblique uav imagery. The International Archives of Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, 42: 93, 2017.
- [221] Giulia Buffi, Piergiorgio Manciola, Silvia Grassi, Marco Barberini, and Andrea Gambi. Survey of the ridracoli dam: Uav-based photogrammetry and traditional topographic techniques in the inspection of vertical structures. *Geomatics, natural hazards and risk*, 8(2):1562–1579, 2017.
- [222] Ali Khaloo, David Lattanzi, Adam Jachimowicz, and Charles Devaney. Utilizing uav and 3d computer vision for visual inspection of a large gravity dam. Frontiers in Built Environment, 4:31, 2018.
- [223] Maria João Henriques and Dora Roque. Unmanned aerial vehicles (uav) as a support to visual inspections of concrete dams. In Second International Dam World Conference, pages 1–12. Laboratorio Nacional De Engenharia Civil Lisbon, 2015.
- [224] Tolga Özaslan, Shaojie Shen, Yash Mulgaonkar, Nathan Michael, and Vijay Kumar. Inspection of penstocks and featureless tunnel-like environments using micro uavs. In *Field and Service Robotics*, pages 123–136. Springer, 2015.
- [225] Tolga Ozaslan, Giuseppe Loianno, James Keller, Camillo J Taylor, Vijay Kumar, Jennifer M Wozencraft, and Thomas Hood. Autonomous navigation and mapping for inspection of penstocks and tunnels with mavs. *IEEE Robotics and Automation Letters*, 2(3):1740–1747, 2017.
- [226] Milan Banić, Aleksandar Miltenović, Milan Pavlović, and Ivan Ćirić. Intelligent machine vision based railway infrastructure inspection and monitoring using uav. *Facta Universitatis, Series: Mechanical Engineering*, 17(3):357–364, 2019.
- [227] Jinyuan Shao, Lina Tang, Ming Liu, Guofan Shao, Lang Sun, and Quanyi Qiu. Bddnet: A general protocol for mapping buildings damaged by a wide range of disasters based on satellite imagery. *Remote Sensing*, 12(10):1670, 2020.
- [228] Rohit Gupta and Mubarak Shah. Rescuenct: Joint building segmentation and damage assessment from satellite imagery. In 2020 25th International Conference on Pattern Recognition (ICPR), pages 4405–4411. IEEE, 2021.

- [229] Yasutaka Furukawa and Carlos Hernández. Multi-view stereo: A tutorial. Foundations and Trends (R) in Computer Graphics and Vision, 9(1-2):1–148, 2015.
- [230] Alex Braun and Andre Borrmann. Combining inverse photogrammetry and bim for automated labeling of construction site images for machine learning. Automation in Construction, 106:102879, 2019.
- [231] ME Stavroulaki, Belén Riveiro, Georgios A Drosopoulos, Mercedes Solla, Panagiotis Koutsianitis, and Georgios E Stavroulakis. Modelling and strength evaluation of masonry bridges using terrestrial photogrammetry and finite elements. Advances in Engineering Software, 101:136–148, 2016.
- [232] Sara Zollini, Maria Alicandro, Donatella Dominici, Raimondo Quaresima, and Marco Giallonardo. Uav photogrammetry for concrete bridge inspection using object-based image analysis (obia). *Remote Sensing*, 12(19):3180, 2020.
- [233] Robert Allan Leishear. Bridge safety dangers-fatigue cracks, brittle failures and grit blasting. Journal of Civil, Construction and Environmental Engineering, 6(2):28–45, 2021.
- [234] DJ Wagg, Keith Worden, RJ Barthorpe, and Paul Gardner. Digital twins: State-ofthe-art and future directions for modeling and simulation in engineering dynamics applications. ASCE-ASME J Risk and Uncert in Engrg Sys Part B Mech Engrg, 6 (3), 2020.
- [235] Banavara R Seshadri and Thiagarajan Krishnamurthy. Structural health management of damaged aircraft structures using digital twin concept. In 25th aiaa/ahs adaptive structures conference, page 1675, 2017.
- [236] Geir Evensen. Analysis of iterative ensemble smoothers for solving inverse problems. Computational Geosciences, 22(3):885–908, 2018.
- [237] Marco A Iglesias, Kody JH Law, and Andrew M Stuart. Ensemble kalman methods for inverse problems. *Inverse Problems*, 29(4):045001, 2013.
- [238] A Seppänen, M Vauhkonen, PJ Vauhkonen, E Somersalo, and JP Kaipio. State estimation with fluid dynamical evolution models in process tomography-an application to impedance tomography. *Inverse Problems*, 17(3):467, 2001.
- [239] Sebastian Lunz, Andreas Hauptmann, Tanja Tarvainen, Carola-Bibiane Schönlieb, and Simon Arridge. On learned operator correction in inverse problems. SIAM Journal on Imaging Sciences, 14(1):92–127, 2021.
- [240] Janne MJ Huttunen and Jari P Kaipio. Approximation errors in nonstationary inverse problems. *Inverse Problems & Imaging*, 1(1):77, 2007.
- [241] Martin Benning and Martin Burger. Modern regularization methods for inverse problems. Acta Numerica, 27:1–111, 2018.
- [242] Chad Lieberman, Karen Willcox, and Omar Ghattas. Parameter and state model reduction for large-scale statistical inverse problems. SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing, 32(5):2523–2542, 2010.
- [243] Wolfgang E Nagel, Michael M Resch, and Dietmar B Kroner. High Performance Computing in Science and Engineering'10. Springer, 2019.

- [244] Krzysztof Gaska, Agnieszka Generowicz, Izabela Zimoch, Józef Ciuła, and Zsuzsanna Iwanicka. A high-performance computing (hpc) based integrated multithreaded model predictive control (mpc) for water supply networks. Architecture, Civil Engineering, Environment, 10(4), 2018.
- [245] Arvind K Saibaba, Tania Bakhos, and Peter K Kitanidis. A flexible krylov solver for shifted systems with application to oscillatory hydraulic tomography. SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing, 35(6):A3001–A3023, 2013.
- [246] Yaoqing Yang, Pulkit Grover, and Soummya Kar. Coded distributed computing for inverse problems. In Proceedings of the 31st International Conference on Neural Information Processing Systems, pages 709–719, 2017.
- [247] Alice Lucas, Michael Iliadis, Rafael Molina, and Aggelos K Katsaggelos. Using deep neural networks for inverse problems in imaging: beyond analytical methods. *IEEE Signal Processing Magazine*, 35(1):20–36, 2018.
- [248] Francis Avilés, Andrés I Oliva-Avilés, and Marco Cen-Puc. Piezoresistivity, strain, and damage self-sensing of polymer composites filled with carbon nanostructures. *Advanced Engineering Materials*, 20(7):1701159, 2018.
- [249] Baoguo Han, Siqi Ding, and Xun Yu. Intrinsic self-sensing concrete and structures: A review. *Measurement*, 59:110–128, 2015.
- [250] Jinsheng Han, Jinlong Pan, Jingming Cai, and Xiaopeng Li. A review on carbonbased self-sensing cementitious composites. *Construction and Building Materials*, 265:120764, 2020.
- [251] Norbert Forintos and Tibor Czigany. Multifunctional application of carbon fiber reinforced polymer composites: electrical properties of the reinforcing carbon fibers– a short review. *Composites Part B: Engineering*, 162:331–343, 2019.
- [252] Tyler N Tallman and Danny J Smyl. Structural health and condition monitoring via electrical impedance tomography in self-sensing materials: a review. *Smart Materials* and Structures, 29(12):123001, 2020.
- [253] Daojun Wang and DDL Chung. Through-thickness piezoresistivity in a carbon fiber polymer-matrix structural composite for electrical-resistance-based throughthickness strain sensing. *Carbon*, 60:129–138, 2013.
- [254] Michael C Koecher, John H Pande, Scott Merkley, Sam Henderson, David T Fullwood, and Anton E Bowden. Piezoresistive in-situ strain sensing of composite laminate structures. *Composites Part B: Engineering*, 69:534–541, 2015.
- [255] José de Jesús Ku-Herrera, Valeria La Saponara, and Francis Avilés. Selective damage sensing in multiscale hierarchical composites by tailoring the location of carbon nanotubes. *Journal of Intelligent Material Systems and Structures*, 29(4):553–562, 2018.
- [256] Tsung-Chin Hou, Kenneth J Loh, and Jerome P Lynch. Spatial conductivity mapping of carbon nanotube composite thin films by electrical impedance tomography for sensing applications. *Nanotechnology*, 18(31):315501, 2007.

- [257] LoriAnne Groo, Jalal Nasser, Daniel Inman, and Henry Sodano. Fatigue damage tracking and life prediction of fiberglass composites using a laser induced graphene interlayer. *Composites Part B: Engineering*, 218:108935, 2021.
- [258] LoriAnne Groo, Jalal Nasser, Daniel Inman, and Henry Sodano. Damage localization in fiberglass-reinforced composites using laser induced graphene. *Smart Materials* and Structures, 30(3):035006, 2021.
- [259] Krishna Kiran Talamadupula, Stefan Povolny, Naveen Prakash, and Gary D Seidel. Piezoresistive detection of simulated hotspots and the effects of low velocity impact at the mesoscale in nanocomposite bonded energetic materials via multiphysics peridynamics modeling. *Computational Materials Science*, 188:110211, 2021.
- [260] Doo-Yeol Yoo, Ilhwan You, and Seung-Jung Lee. Electrical and piezoresistive sensing capacities of cement paste with multi-walled carbon nanotubes. Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering, 18:371–384, 2018.
- [261] Emmanuel Ricohermoso III, Felix Rosenburg, Florian Klug, Norbert Nicoloso, Helmut F Schlaak, Ralf Riedel, and Emanuel Ionescu. Piezoresistive carbon-containing ceramic nanocomposites-a review. *Open Ceramics*, page 100057, 2021.
- [262] Micah CL McCrary-Dennis and Okenwa I Okoli. A review of multiscale composite manufacturing and challenges. Journal of reinforced plastics and composites, 31(24): 1687–1711, 2012.
- [263] Peng-Cheng Ma, Naveed A Siddiqui, Gad Marom, and Jang-Kyo Kim. Dispersion and functionalization of carbon nanotubes for polymer-based nanocomposites: a review. Composites Part A: Applied Science and Manufacturing, 41(10):1345–1367, 2010.
- [264] Shen Gong and Zheng H Zhu. On the mechanism of piezoresistivity of carbon nanotube polymer composites. *Polymer*, 55(16):4136–4149, 2014.
- [265] Ning Hu, Yoshifumi Karube, Cheng Yan, Zen Masuda, and Hisao Fukunaga. Tunneling effect in a polymer/carbon nanotube nanocomposite strain sensor. Acta materialia, 56(13):2929–2936, 2008.
- [266] Bo Mi Lee and Kenneth J Loh. A 2d percolation-based model for characterizing the piezoresistivity of carbon nanotube-based films. *Journal of materials science*, 50(7): 2973–2983, 2015.
- [267] AR Alian and SA Meguid. Multiscale modeling of the coupled electromechanical behavior of multifunctional nanocomposites. *Composite Structures*, 208:826–835, 2019.
- [268] Xiang Ren, Adarsh K Chaurasia, Andrés I Oliva-Avilés, José J Ku-Herrera, Gary D Seidel, and Francis Avilés. Modeling of mesoscale dispersion effect on the piezoresistivity of carbon nanotube-polymer nanocomposites via 3d computational multiscale micromechanics methods. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 24(6):065031, 2015.
- [269] Krishna Kiran Talamadupula and Gary D Seidel. Statistical analysis of effective electro-mechanical properties and percolation behavior of aligned carbon nanotube/polymer nanocomposites via computational micromechanics. *Computational Materials Science*, 197:110616, 2021.

- [270] Cyrill Cattin and Pascal Hubert. Piezoresistance in polymer nanocomposites with high aspect ratio particles. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces, 6(3):1804–1811, 2014.
- [271] T Tallman and KW Wang. An arbitrary strains carbon nanotube composite piezoresistivity model for finite element integration. Applied Physics Letters, 102(1):011909, 2013.
- [272] GM Koo and TN Tallman. Higher-order resistivity-strain relations for self-sensing nanocomposites subject to general deformations. *Composites Part B: Engineering*, 190:107907, 2020.
- [273] WS Bao, SA Meguid, ZH Zhu, and GJ Weng. Tunneling resistance and its effect on the electrical conductivity of carbon nanotube nanocomposites. *Journal of Applied Physics*, 111(9):093726, 2012.
- [274] M Taya, WJ Kim, and K Ono. Piezoresistivity of a short fiber/elastomer matrix composite. *Mechanics of materials*, 28(1-4):53–59, 1998.
- [275] Yingjun Zhao, Sandra Gschossmann, Martin Schagerl, Patrick Gruener, and Christoph Kralovec. Characterization of the spatial elastoresistivity of inkjet-printed carbon nanotube thin films. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 27(10):105009, 2018.
- [276] Patrick Gruener, Yingjun Zhao, and Martin Schagerl. Characterization of the spatial elastoresistivity of inkjet-printed carbon nanotube thin films for strain-state sensing. In Nondestructive Characterization and Monitoring of Advanced Materials, Aerospace, and Civil Infrastructure 2017, volume 10169, page 101690F. International Society for Optics and Photonics, 2017.
- [277] Brian K Bay. Methods and applications of digital volume correlation. The Journal of Strain Analysis for Engineering Design, 43(8):745–760, 2008.
- [278] Kenneth J Loh, Tsung-Chin Hou, Jerome P Lynch, and Nicholas A Kotov. Carbon nanotube sensing skins for spatial strain and impact damage identification. *Journal* of nondestructive evaluation, 28(1):9–25, 2009.
- [279] Hongbo Dai and Erik T Thostenson. Large-area carbon nanotube-based flexible composites for ultra-wide range pressure sensing and spatial pressure mapping. ACS applied materials & interfaces, 11(51):48370–48380, 2019.
- [280] Sumeru Nayak and Sumanta Das. Spatial damage sensing ability of metallic particulate-reinforced cementitious composites: Insights from electrical resistance tomography. *Materials & Design*, 175:107817, 2019.
- [281] Sumit Gupta, Jesus G Gonzalez, and Kenneth J Loh. Self-sensing concrete enabled by nano-engineered cement-aggregate interfaces. *Structural Health Monitoring*, 16 (3):309–323, 2017.
- [282] TN Tallman, S Gungor, GM Koo, and CE Bakis. On the inverse determination of displacements, strains, and stresses in a carbon nanofiber/polyurethane nanocomposite from conductivity data obtained via electrical impedance tomography. *Journal* of Intelligent Material Systems and Structures, pages 1–13, 2017.

- [283] Hashim Hassan and Tyler N Tallman. Failure prediction in self-sensing nanocomposites via genetic algorithm-enabled piezoresistive inversion. *Structural Health Monitoring*, 19(3):765–780, 2020.
- [284] TN Tallman and KW Wang. An inverse methodology for calculating strains from conductivity changes in piezoresistive nanocomposites. *Smart Materials and Structures*, 25(11):115046, 2016.
- [285] Hashim Hassan and Tyler N Tallman. A comparison of metaheuristic algorithms for solving the piezoresistive inverse problem in self-sensing materials. *IEEE Sensors Journal*, 21(1):659–666, 2020.
- [286] Hamid Ghaednia, Crystal E Owens, Lily E Keiderling, Kartik M Varadarajan, A John Hart, Joseph H Schwab, and Tyler N Tallman. Is machine learning able to detect and classify failure in piezoresistive bone cement based on electrical signals? arXiv preprint arXiv:2010.12147, 2020.
- [287] Lang Zhao, Tyler Tallman, and Guang Lin. Spatial damage characterization in self-sensing materials via neural network-aided electrical impedance tomography: A computational study. arXiv preprint arXiv:2010.01674, 2020.
- [288] Hashim Hassan and Tyler N Tallman. Precise damage shaping in self-sensing composites using electrical impedance tomography and genetic algorithms. *under review*, 2021.
- [289] David S Holder. *Electrical impedance tomography: methods, history and applications*. CRC Press, 2004.
- [290] E Weinan. The dawning of a new era in applied mathematics. Notices of the American Mathematical Society, 68(4):565–571, 2021.
- [291] Jiequn Han, Arnulf Jentzen, and E Weinan. Solving high-dimensional partial differential equations using deep learning. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115(34):8505–8510, 2018.
- [292] Han Sun, Henry V Burton, and Honglan Huang. Machine learning applications for building structural design and performance assessment: state-of-the-art review. *Journal of Building Engineering*, page 101816, 2020.
- [293] Seunghye Lee, Jingwan Ha, Mehriniso Zokhirova, Hyeonjoon Moon, and Jaehong Lee. Background information of deep learning for structural engineering. Archives of Computational Methods in Engineering, 25(1):121–129, 2018.
- [294] Herbert A Simon. The sciences of the artificial. 3rd, 1996.
- [295] Donald A Schon. *Reflective practitioner*, volume 5126. Basic books, 1983.
- [296] Richard Buchanan. Wicked problems in design thinking. Design issues, 8(2):5–21, 1992.
- [297] Claudine Badue, Rânik Guidolini, Raphael Vivacqua Carneiro, Pedro Azevedo, Vinicius Brito Cardoso, Avelino Forechi, Luan Jesus, Rodrigo Berriel, Thiago Meireles Paixao, Filipe Mutz, et al. Self-driving cars: A survey. *Expert Systems with Applications*, page 113816, 2020.

- [298] Karla Saldana Ochoa, Patrick Ole Ohlbrock, Pierluigi D'Acunto, and Vahid Moosavi. Beyond typologies, beyond optimization: Exploring novel structural forms at the interface of human and machine intelligence. *International Journal of Architectural Computing*, 0(0):1478077120943062, 2020. doi: 10.1177/1478077120943062. URL https://doi.org/10.1177/1478077120943062.
- [299] Hao Zheng, Vahid Moosavi, and Masoud Akbarzadeh. Machine learning assisted evaluations in structural design and construction. Automation in Construction, 119:103346, 2020. ISSN 0926-5805. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. autcon.2020.103346. URL https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0926580520309262.
- [300] Margaret Wang, Emil Poulsen, Dan Reynolds, and Robert Otani. Conceptual stage predictive and collaborative design using machine learning. In *Proceedings of IASS Annual Symposia*, volume 2018, pages 1–7. International Association for Shell and Spatial Structures (IASS), 2018.
- [301] Antti Lipponen, Janne MJ Huttunen, Sami Romakkaniemi, Harri Kokkola, and Ville Kolehmainen. Correction of model reduction errors in simulations. SIAM Journal on Scientific Computing, 40(1):B305–B327, 2018.
- [302] J. Kaipio and E. Somersalo. Statistical inverse problems: Discretization, model reduction and inverse crimes. *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, 198:493–504, 2007.
- [303] S.R. Arridge, J.P. Kaipio, V. Kolehmainen, M. Schweiger, E. Somersalo, T. Tarvainen, and M. Vauhkonen. Approximation errors and model reduction with an application in optical diffusion tomography. *Inverse Problems*, 22:175–195, 2006.
- [304] Janne Koponen, Timo Lähivaara, Jari Kaipio, and Marko Vauhkonen. Model reduction in acoustic inversion by artificial neural network. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2105.02225*, 2021.
- [305] Sebastian Banert, Axel Ringh, Jonas Adler, Johan Karlsson, and Ozan Oktem. Data-driven nonsmooth optimization. SIAM Journal on Optimization, 30(1):102– 131, 2020.
- [306] Yue Wang, Yongbin Sun, Ziwei Liu, Sanjay E Sarma, Michael M Bronstein, and Justin M Solomon. Dynamic graph cnn for learning on point clouds. Acm Transactions On Graphics (tog), 38(5):1–12, 2019.
- [307] William Herzberg, Daniel B Rowe, Andreas Hauptmann, and Sarah J Hamilton. Graph convolutional networks for model-based learning in nonlinear inverse problems. arXiv preprint arXiv:2103.15138, 2021.
- [308] Jeffrey E Froyd, Phillip C Wankat, and Karl A Smith. Five major shifts in 100 years of engineering education. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, 100(Special Centennial Issue): 1344–1360, 2012.
- [309] William M Bulleit. What makes an engineering education an engineering education? In Structures Congress 2012, pages 1143–1151, 2012.
- [310] Billy Vaughn Koen. Debunking contemporary myths concerning engineering. In Philosophy and engineering: Reflections on practice, principles and process, pages 115–137. Springer, 2013.

- [311] Steven L Goldman. Why we need a philosophy of engineering: a work in progress. Interdisciplinary Science Reviews, 29(2):163–176, 2004.
- [312] Clive L Dym, Alice M Agogino, Ozgur Eris, Daniel D Frey, and Larry J Leifer. Engineering design thinking, teaching, and learning. *Journal of engineering education*, 94(1):103–120, 2005.
- [313] Fernand Doridot. Towards an'engineered epistemology'? Interdisciplinary science reviews, 33(3):254–262, 2008.
- [314] Waseem Rawat and Zenghui Wang. Deep convolutional neural networks for image classification: A comprehensive review. *Neural computation*, 29(9):2352–2449, 2017.
- [315] Ashish Vaswani, Noam Shazeer, Niki Parmar, Jakob Uszkoreit, Llion Jones, Aidan N Gomez, Lukasz Kaiser, and Illia Polosukhin. Attention is all you need. arXiv preprint arXiv:1706.03762, 2017.
- [316] Zonghan Wu, Shirui Pan, Fengwen Chen, Guodong Long, Chengqi Zhang, and S Yu Philip. A comprehensive survey on graph neural networks. *IEEE transactions on neural networks and learning systems*, 2020.